
Section Name

Annual Report
2008-09

O F F I C E  O F  T H E  C O M M I S S I O N E R  F O R  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y M E N T



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2008-09

2

Purpose of the report
The annual report highlights the Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment’s key achievements against outcomes and 
assesses performance against outputs.

It also provides the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly with an 
account of performance against the approved budget as published in 
the 2008–09 Budget Paper No. 3.

In addition, the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  
is responsible for giving an account of the performance of the  
Northern Territory Public Sector in the State of the Service Report 
(with Statistical Supplement), in a separate report.

Published by the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment.

© Northern Territory Government of Australia 2009

Apart from any use permitted under the Australian Copyright Act, 
no part of this document may be reproduced without prior written 
permission from the Northern Territory Government through the 
Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment.

ISSN 1323-2894

Enquiries should be made to: 
The Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
GPO Box 4371 
Darwin NT 0801

 
Telephone: 08 8999 4282 
Facsimile: 08 8999 4186 
Email: enquiries.ocpe@nt.gov.au 
Web: www.nt.gov.au/ocpe
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Dear Minister Knight

RE:  THE OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER FOR PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT  
2008–09 ANNUAL REPORT

In accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act, I am 
pleased to submit the 2008–09 annual report on the activities and achievements of the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment (OCPE).

Pursuant to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act (PSEMA), Financial 
Management Act, Information Act and Carers Recognition Act, I advise that to the best of my 
knowledge and belief:

(a)  Proper records of all transactions affecting the OCPE are kept and the employees under my 
control observe the provisions of the Financial Management Act, the Financial Management 
Regulations and the Treasurer’s Directions.

(b) Procedures within the OCPE afford proper internal control, and these procedures are   
 recorded in the Accounting and Property Manual, which has been prepared in accordance  
 with the requirements of the Financial Management Act.

(c) There is no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major  
 error in, or omission from, the accounts and records.

(d) In relation to internal audit coverage, the Auditor-General offered an opinion to me that the  
 arrangements in place were not effective.  Action has been taken to rectify this, primarily  
 through the establishment of an Audit and Risk Management Committee.

(e) The financial statement included in the annual report has been prepared from proper  
 accounts and records and is in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions.

(f)  All Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have  
 been satisfied.

(g) OCPE is working progressively towards compliance with the Information Act.

(h) Obligations under the Carers Recognition Act and NT Carers Charter have been satisfied.

Letter to the Minister

The Hon. Rob Knight MLA 
Minister for Public Employment 
GPO Box 3146 
DARWIN  NT  0801
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Letter to the Minister

Up to 9 February 2009 the OCPE had principal responsibility for the administration of the 
Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act. Under that Act, the Board of NT Build 
holds specific responsibility for the day-to-day management of the scheme and provides advice 
and recommendations to the relevant Minister about the legislation.

NT Build is not a separate agency within the meaning of the Financial Management Act or PSEMA.

As such, the staff of NT Build were employees of the OCPE who assisted the NT Build Board 
under a full cost recovery arrangement between the NT Build Board and the OCPE.

As the NT Build Board is responsible for its own expenditure and financial reporting requirements, 
the Board submits a separate report on the performance of the scheme annually.

Yours sincerely

KEN SIMPSON 
Commissioner for Public Employment

30 September 2009
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The purpose of this report is to fulfil my 
statutory responsibility to report to the Minister 
for Public Employment on the activities of the 
OCPE in 2008-09. The report is also designed 
to inform stakeholders on how well the 
OCPE has performed against its objectives, 
to summarise major achievements and to 
foreshadow some of the challenges and 
priorities that lie ahead.

I reported in 2007-08 that I expected the focus 
for 2008-09 to be on finalising workplace 
agreement negotiations, developing the 
suite of initiatives aimed at reforming and 
revitalising the Northern Territory Public Sector 
(NTPS) and an emphasis on the application of 
the merit principle in the selection process.

This prediction was correct.

Workplace Agreements
Ten workplace agreements were concluded.

All had difficult elements to them, and none 
more so than the teachers and educators 
agreement.  This particular negotiation 
took many months and overlapped with 
the August 2008 NT general election.  The 
negotiations were also characterised by an 
on-going industrial campaign by the Australian 
Education Union (AEU), and action by me 
in the Industrial Relations Commission to 
seek to stop some action that in the view of 
the Department of Education and Training 
was detrimental to the preparation of year 12 
students for their final exams.  There were 
also philosophical differences between us on 
what matters should be negotiated as part 

of the agreement, and in particular, whether 
education resourcing matters should be up  
for negotiation.

All in all it was a difficult negotiation, and one 
which has prompted me to consider ways 
of achieving a quicker agreed outcome, not 
just with the AEU, but in all negotiations, 
so our public servants are focussed where 
they should be – providing services to the 
community, rather than on the distraction of 
the negotiations.

NTPS Reform and 
Revitalisation Agenda
Significant progress was made on the NTPS 
Reform and Revitalisation agenda, and while 
comment can be found in the body of this 
report, a summary here will highlight the 
progress made.

• Review of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act
 ◦ Recommendations were provided  

to the Minister

• Review Commissioner’s delegations to 
agency Chief Executive Officers (CEOs)
 ◦ Completed

• Develop a workforce planning framework 
and methodology
 ◦ Completed

• Introduce a new Executive Leadership 
Development Strategy
 ◦ Completed

Commissioner’s Foreword
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Commissioner's Foreword

• NTPS to join the Australia and  
New Zealand School of Government
 ◦ Completed

• Establish a Future Leaders Group (Think 
Tank) to consider the future direction of the 
NTPS
 ◦ Exercise completed with 

recommendations for further action

• Review the NT Government’s wages policy
 ◦ Advice provided

• Review the NTPS Indigenous Employment 
and Career Development Strategy
 ◦ Recommendations provided  

to the Minister

• Review the Willing and Able Strategy
 ◦ Recommendations provided  

to the Minister

• Introduce biennial staff surveys
 ◦ The first survey was ready to commence 

in July/August 2009

There are still several matters on the  
agenda which have not been addressed,  
but will be in 2009-10, they being a; 
Knowledge Management Strategy, an 
Innovation/ Recognition/ Reward Strategy  
and a program to promote public sector values 
within the NTPS.

Merit
The ongoing effort to dispel so-called good 
practice recruitment myths continued, 
particularly through the development of the 
“Merit Selection Good Practice Guidelines”.

All of the activities are aimed at having an 
NTPS that is contemporary in the way it 
operates for the good of the NT community, 
and remains an attractive employer.

Like all areas of the NTPS, OCPE’s workload 
in 2008-09 has been heavy and challenging 
but rewarding and satisfying at the same time.  
The commitment of the OCPE staff is second 
to none and the significant advances we have 
made in 2008-09 are all down to them.

A separate State of the Service Report for 
2008-09 has been prepared which provides 
details of the state of human resource 
management in the NTPS, and a statistical 
analysis of state of the service indicators.

Ken Simpson 
Commissioner for Public Employment

30 September 2009
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About the Office of
the Commissioner for
Public Employment

of the Commissioner 
for Public Employment
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The OCPE is a central agency within the 
NTPS with sector-wide responsibility for 
providing an effective employment framework 
for the management and development of the 
NTPS workforce.

The Commissioner for Public Employment is 
the Chief Executive and, under section 12 of 
PSEMA, is deemed to be the employer of all 
employees in the NTPS.

The role of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment and the OCPE is to provide 
leadership and assistance to the NT 
Government and its agencies in all matters to 
do with managing the government’s workforce, 
and to promote best practice human resource 
management in the private sector.

Under section 13 of PSEMA, the OCPE fulfils 
the role of employer by establishing policy 
and practice frameworks for the management 
of all public sector employees. This is 
achieved through the defined functions of the 
Commissioner, which are to:

• determine the respective designations and 
other terms and conditions (including the 
remuneration) of employment for employees

• subject to PSEMA, promote, uphold and 
ensure adherence to the merit principle in 
the selection of persons as employees, and 
the promotion and transfer of employees

• determine practices and procedures relating 
to the recruitment and appointment of 
persons as employees, the promotion of 
employees and the employment, transfer, 
secondment, redeployment, discipline and 
termination of employment of employees 
and any other matters relating to human 
resource management

• consult with and advise CEOs in relation 
to the development and application of 
appropriate human resource practices and 
procedures in their agencies

• consult with CEOs in relation to the 
application of public employment policies  
in their agencies

• advise the Minister on, and monitor  
the implementation of, public  
employment policies

• develop uniform systems, standards and 
procedures for determining and allocating 
designations to employees in their agencies 
and assist CEOs in applying those systems, 
standards and procedures

• assist CEOs in evaluating the performance 
of employees employed in their agencies

• coordinate training, education and 
development programs in conjunction  
with CEOs

• conduct or cause to be conducted inquiries 
and investigations into, and reviews of, the 
management practices of agencies

Functions of the Commissioner
Estimated cost of service: $7.52 million 

Actual cost of service: $7.27 million 
Staffing: 38

Overview
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About the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment

• consult with CEOs on the development of 
appropriate standards and programs of 
occupational health and safety

• assist CEOs in performing their  
functions relating to the management  
of their agencies

• perform other functions imposed by or 
under the PSEMA or any other Act, or as 
directed by the Minister.

Administrative  
Arrangements Order
The Administrative Arrangements Order gives 
the OCPE principal responsibility for the 
following areas of government administration:

• public sector

• industrial relations

• development and coordination of public and 
private employment strategies.

Acts
In 2008-09 the OCPE was responsible for the 
following Acts:

•  Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act

• Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act (Transition and Savings)

• Public Sector Employment (Interim 
Arrangements) Act

• Public Employment (Mobility) Act

• Prisons (Arbitral Tribunal) Act

• Police Administration Act (Part III)

• Annual Leave Act

• Long Service Leave Act

• Public Holidays Act

Key External Influences
Key external influences that affect the 
operations of OCPE are:

• community expectations and government 
policy on employment and workforce 
development initiatives – to acquit the 
government’s responsibility as the largest 
employer in the NT

• Australian Government industrial relations 
system and reform agenda (because the 
Northern Territory Self Government Act did 
not establish a Northern Territory industrial 
relations system)

• union activity, particularly in relation to the 
negotiation of workplace agreements.
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Our Vision
A skilled, unbiased and creative public sector 
that provides the highest quality service to the 
people of the Northern Territory.

Our Mission
Leading and coordinating the development of 
a skilled, committed and strategically aligned 
workforce to achieve quality innovative 
government services for the Northern Territory 
community.

We will do this through:

• collaborating with the NTPS CEOs and 
human resources managers to build a 
creative and innovative workforce, skilled to 
meet the needs of the future

• taking a leadership role in the identification 
of strategic shifts, trends and contemporary 
public sector workforce practice

• coordinating activity across agencies to 
ensure a whole of government approach.

The success of our workforce strategies 
relies on the NTPS commitment to actively 
being an employer of choice for our valued 
employees. It also requires all NTPS agencies 
to maintain a skilled public sector workforce 
that understands and is aligned to achieving 
agency goals and objectives.

Our Purpose
To ensure:

• Workplace arrangements are in place  
so the NTPS provides quality advice  
to government and quality services to  
the community.

• The NTPS is seen as an attractive employer.

• The NTPS more closely reflects the NT 
community it serves.

• The NTPS workforce is treated fairly and 
has appropriate protections available to it.

Our Values
In dealing with our clients and stakeholders 
our actions are based on:

• respect and consideration

• ethical behaviour, professionalism  
and accountability

• fairness, equity and diversity

• encouragement and support for innovation

• continuous learning and sharing  
of knowledge.

The OCPE vision, mission statement, 
purpose, and values, along with our statutory 
responsibilities, are critical in defining and 
guiding our work.

The OCPE’s Strategic Plan
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For the 2008-09 reporting period the OCPE 
sought feedback from agencies on its Output 
Performance Measures, as set out in NT 
Budget Paper Number 3.

Outputs
The OCPE has three outputs upon which it 
sought agency feedback:

• Employee and Industrial Relations

• Workforce Planning and Development

• Promotion, Disciplinary and Inability Appeals 
and Grievance Reviews

The responsibilities for each Output, as 
specified in NT Budget Paper Number 3, are 
detailed in the following paragraphs.

Employee and Industrial Relations
Develop and manage employment policies and 
provide employment services that ensure NTPS 
employees have appropriate remuneration 
and conditions of service and that merit, equity 
and fairness and all legislative requirements 
are applied to the management of NTPS staff.  
Provide strategic public and private industrial 
relations advice and administer the Territory’s 
Long Service Leave and Public Holiday Acts.

Workforce Planning and Development
Build capacity within the NTPS through 
preparation and implementation of appropriate 
workforce planning and development strategies.  

This includes the introduction and promotion of 
workforce planning methodologies in agencies, 
the coordination of workforce development 
activities including executive leadership and 
management, and the promotion of equity and 
diversity in the NTPS, including the employment 
across the public sector of an increased 
number of Indigenous people and people from 
disadvantaged groups within the community.

Promotion, Disciplinary and Inability 
Appeals and Grievance Reviews
Provide employees with the opportunity to 
seek independent and impartial consideration 
of actions or decisions by agencies, through 
promotion, disciplinary and inability appeals 
and reviews of decisions affecting employees, 
including termination of employment, conditions 
of service, selection processes and unfair 
treatment in the workplace.

Performance Measures
Agencies were given the opportunity to 
comment on:

• their level of satisfaction with the service 
provided to their agency

• their level of satisfaction with the  
timeframes in which services were  
provided to their agency

• how the service and timeframes could  
be improved.

Agency Views on
OCPE Performance
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Agency Evaluated Performance
Feedback was received from 18 of the 19 
agencies from which the information was 
requested. Of these 18 agencies:

• a total of 59% of agencies indicated that 
they were “satisfied” or “very satisfied” with 
the service provided to their agency, with  
4% of agencies either not commenting on 
the service provided, or stating the service 
is not applicable to them

• a total of 48% of agencies indicated  
that they were “satisfied” or “very satisfied” 
with the timeframes in which the  
services were provided to their agency,  
with 26% of agencies either not commenting  
on the timeframes, or stating the timeframes 
are not applicable to them.

The results are detailed in the following graphs.

Graph 1 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Service Provided – 
 Employee and Industrial Relations
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Graph 2 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Service Provided – 
 Workforce Planning and Development

Graph 3 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Service Provided – 
 Promotion, Disciplinary and Inability Appeals and Grievance Reviews
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Graph 4 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Timeframes in which  
 Services were Provided - Employee and Industrial Relations

Graph 5 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Timeframes in which  
 Services were Provided - Workforce Planning and Development
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Graph 6 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Timeframes in which  
 Services were Provided - Grievance Reviews Finalsed  
 within 3 Months

Graph 7 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Timeframes in which  
 Services were Provided - Promotion Appeals Finalised  
 within 6 Weeks
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*  It is presumed from the high “N/A or no comment”, 33.5% (6 agencies), that these are agencies which have not had  
dealings with PA&GR.  Of the remaining 12 agencies, 7 agencies (58%) commented they were satisfied with the timeframes 
in which the services were provided, and 1 agency (8%) commented they were very satisfied with the timeframes.

*  It is presumed from the high “N/A or no comment”, 33.5% (6 agencies), that these are agencies which have not had  
dealings with PA&GR.  Of the remaining 12 agencies, 9 agencies (75%) commented they were satisfied with the timeframes 
in which the services were provided, and 1 agency (8%) commented they were very satisfied with the timeframes.
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Graph 8 – Agency Level of Satisfaction with the Timeframes in which  
 Services were Provided - Disciplinary and Inability Appeals  
 Finalised within 5 Months
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*  It is presumed from the high “N/A or no comment”, 55.5% (10 agencies), that these are agencies which have  
not had dealings with PA&GR.  Of the remaining 8 agencies, 5 agencies (62.5%) commented they were satisfied with  
the timeframes in which the services were provided, and 1 agency (12.5%) commented they were very satisfied with  
the timeframes.
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• Negotiated ten workplace agreements 
within the NT Wages Policy.  The 
agreements covered teachers and 
educators, nurses, dental officers,  
NT Police, forensic services, Prison 
Officers, Darwin Port Corporation Marine 
Pilots and NTPS employees, and Fire  
and Rescue Service.

• Included a flexible working arrangements 
clause in all agreements which facilitates 
the implementation of new work practices 
during the life of an agreement to enable 
agencies to better meet service demands.

• Developed a workforce planning framework 
and methodology, “Making Workforce 
Planning Work in the Northern Territory 
Public Sector”.

• Implemented new grievance  
handling processes which use a  
more flexible approach, concentrating  
on achieving resolution through negotiation 
and mediation.

• Undertook a review of the NT Government’s 
Wages Policy.

• Undertook a review of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act.

• Undertook a review of the Commissioner  
for Public Employment’s delegations to 
agency CEOs.

• Introduced a new Executive Leadership 
Development Strategy.

• Established a Future Leaders Group (Think 
Tank) to consider the future direction of the 
NTPS, comprising of 26 executives from 
across the NTPS, and 2 executives from the 
Australian Public Service.

• Developed the “NTPS Pandemic Planning 
Employment Framework and Guidelines”  
to assist agencies with, and inform 
employees about the management of 
employment related issues in the event 
of a human influenza pandemic within the 
Northern Territory. The Framework was 
used by agencies to guide the management 
of their employees when the H1N1 (Swine 
flu) pandemic was declared.

• Hosted the biennial Chief Minister’s Awards 
for Excellence in the Public Sector.

• Hosted the ‘We Need Your Help’ Forum, 
specifically designed for Indigenous 
employees from urban, rural, regional and 
remote workplaces to workshop ideas 
on attraction and retention of Indigenous 
employees in the NTPS.

• Developed a draft Northern Territory Public 
Sector Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy 2009-2012, in 
consultation with public sector stakeholders.

• Lead an inter-agency working group to 
identify and assess the broader public 
sector implications on NTPS employees of 
the Care and Protection of Children 
Act 2007.

Key Achievements 2008–09
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• Completed the preparation for the 
introduction of the biennial staff surveys  
in 2009-2010.

• Developed and implemented new practices 
in the handling of promotion appeals, 
with increased emphasis on providing a 
transparent process and comprehensive 
reasons for decisions.

• Completed a project to identify current 
recruitment and retention initiatives  
for remote and regional areas in  
Northern Territory, Queensland, South 
Australia and Western Australia. This 
information will assist the OCPE in  
the development of future regional  
and remote initiatives.

• Amended CEO Performance Agreement 
guidelines and templates to incorporate 
priorities in relation to Indigenous policy and 
Closing the Gap initiatives.

• Undertook a review of the Willing and Able 
Strategy to assist people with disability.

• Continued a campaign to improve 
government merit selection processes 
through education and training, including 
production and distribution of the “Merit 
Selection Good Practice Guidelines”.

• Sponsored career management workshops 
in both Darwin and Alice Springs, including 
Make your Move, Activate your Career and 
Creating Career Success.

• Became a member of the Australia  
and New Zealand School of Government  
(in partnership with Charles Darwin 
University), offering accredited and 
non accredited executive training and 
committing annually to two executives in  
the Executive Masters in Public 
Administration program, and one executive 
for the Executive Fellows program.
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Overview
The Employee Relations Unit is responsible 
for strategic leadership, policy and advice in 
human resource management and industrial 
relations to support Government and NTPS 
agencies to achieve their objectives. Specific 
responsibilities include:

• strategic public sector and private sector 
industrial relations policy and management

• strategic public sector human resource 
management policy

• NTPS employment framework

• industrial relations and employee  
relations advice

• executive contract of employment 
arrangements

• job evaluation policy and training

• Northern Territory Government input  
to International Labour Organisation  
matters

• workforce statistics and analysis

• central management of and policy 
development for public sector redeployment 
and redundancy and

• secretariat services to the Prison Officers 
Arbitral Tribunal and the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal and administration of the Police 
Administration Act (Part III).

Strategic Public Sector and 
Private Sector Industrial 
Relations Policy and 
Management

Introduction
The OCPE is responsible for strategic  
public sector and private sector industrial 
relations policy and management. Activities  
in 2008–09 included:

• negotiating and implementing workplace 
agreements within the NT Government’s 
Wages Policy

• providing policy and strategic  
industrial relations advice to the  
Minister and NT Government

• providing policy and strategic industrial 
relations advice and guidance to agency 
CEOs and senior management

• developing industrial relations capacity in 
the NTPS by providing general industrial 
relations guidance to agencies

• working with agencies to resolve  
industrial disputes

• ensuring that PSEMA and its subordinate 
legislation comply with the Workplace 
Relations Act and Transitional Provisions 
and Consequential Amendment Acts, 
introduced prior to the introduction of its 
successor, the Fair Work Act and

Output 1 – Employee and
Industrial Relations

Estimated cost of service: $2.92 million 
Actual cost of service: $2.88 million 

Staffing: 16
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• researching market competitiveness and 
coordinating and developing NT responses 
to cross-jurisdictional and specific NTPS 
industrial issues.

Workplace Agreements

Agreements Finalised in 2008–09
Completing the current round of workplace 
bargaining, the following workplace 
agreements were finalised, during 2008-09:

• NT Public Sector Teacher and Educator 
2008-10 Union Collective Agreement

• NT Public Sector Nurses’ 2008-11  
Collective Agreement

• Dental Officers (NTPS) 2008-11 Agreement

• Northern Territory Police Force  
Consent Agreement 2008

• Forensic Services Career Path  
Consent Agreement 2008

• Prison Officers (NTPS) 2008-11  
Certified Agreement

• Darwin Port Corporation Marine Pilots 
Union Collective Agreement 2008

• NT Public Sector Fire and Rescue Service 
2007-10 Partnership Agreement

• Darwin Port Corporation (NTPS)  
2008 Union Collective Agreement and

• Northern Territory Police Force  
Territory Duty Superintendent Consent 
Agreement 2009.

Implement Certified and  
Workplace Agreements 

Under the Government’s Wages Policy 
(2006) workplace agreements provide a 
basis for productivity improvements and 
more competitive terms and conditions 
of employment across the NT.  These 
improvements may be achieved through the 
introduction of workplace reforms or flexible 
work arrangements which enable agencies to 
meet client needs and Government’s policy 
objectives.  Workplace agreements finalised 
during the 2008-09 reporting period continued 
workplace reforms first introduced through 
the Northern Territory Public Sector 2008-10 
Union Collective Agreement including:

• the introduction of expanded work-life 
balance provisions for teachers,  
Darwin Port Corporation staff and  
prison officers and

• reformed provisions covering parental 
leave, including paid paternity/partner’s 
leave, compassionate leave, personal leave 
and recreation leave.

Other key features of agreements finalised in 
2008-09 include:

• new salary classification structures for 
dentists, teaching and nursing staff, and 
Darwin Port Corporation general employees 
and marine pilots

• a clause facilitating the introduction of a 
replacement program for the Teacher of 
Exemplary Practice program
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• a new remote incentive allowance for 
teachers which replaces the former  
freight allowance and Professional  
Isolation Allowance

• a new remote retention payment  
for teachers

• increased non-contact time for primary 
school teachers enabling lesson preparation 
and other curriculum related activities

• a review of teacher hours of work, duties 
and other matters to be completed over the 
life of the agreement

• an updated nursing post-graduate 
qualification allowance better aligned with 
national standards

• absorption of the nursing laundry allowance 
into salary

• a review of nursing resource consultant 
duties to be undertaken by the parties

• improved rest period provisions for  
Darwin Port Corporation staff

• a review of fatigue management at  
Darwin Port Corporation

• agreement to implement new shift 
arrangements for marine services staff at 
Darwin Port Corporation

• commitment to introduce a new staffing 
model for Prison Officers

• a review of hours of duty for Prison Officers 
in Alice Springs Prison

• new outstation relief and transfer provisions 
for firefighters

• new provisions dealing with the recruitment 
of lateral entry firefighters and

• an improved instructors allowance  
for firefighters.

All agreements also include a flexible working 
arrangements clause which facilitates the 
implementation of new work practices during 
the life of an agreement to enable agencies 
to better meet service demands.  Some 
examples implemented during 2008-09 
include:

• new hours of work and rostering 
arrangements for community midwives and

• the annualisation of overtime and extra 
duties for Power and Water Corporation 
staff in Jabiru.

Industrial Representation and  
Dispute Resolution 

Industrial disputes are generally resolved 
through direct negotiation between the union, 
the agency and the Commissioner for Public 
Employment. If disputes cannot be resolved 
they may be referred to the Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission (AIRC), 
the Police Arbitral Tribunal or Prison Officer 
Arbitral Tribunal. Examples of disputes that 
were resolved by direct negotiation without the 
need for tribunal intervention includes meal 
breaks at Don Dale Centre in the Department 
of Justice and on-call allowances for nurses.
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Examples of disputes in which OCPE  
was required to appear before an industrial 
tribunal include:

• an application before the AIRC to suspend 
the bargaining period associated with 
negotiations for a new agreement for 
teachers and educators

• an application before the AIRC in relation  
to back pay for casual relief teachers

• an application before the AIRC in relation  
to meal breaks for employees working in  
the Museum and Art Gallery of the NT

• an application before the AIRC about 
camping allowance

• applications before the AIRC in relation to 
alleged unfair dismissals

• an application before the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal in relation to the payment of the 
housing allowance

• an application before the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal in relation to duty superintendent 
rostering arrangements and

• report-backs before the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal in relation to the standard of 
housing for police officers.

Industrial and Employee  
Relations Developments

2008-09 saw further significant change in 
national industrial relations.  The industrial 
relations landscape changed dramatically  
with the end of the former federal 
Government’s WorkChoices legislation and 
the introduction of the Workplace Relations 

Amendment (Transition to Forward with 
Fairness) Act 2008.

That change was continued by the 
subsequent introduction of the Fair Work Act 
2009, which became operational from 
1 July 2009, and will continue with the 
introduction of the following legislation:

• the Fair Work (Transitional Provisions and 
Consequential Amendments) Act 2009, 
which repeals the Workplace Relations Act 
1996, and which clarifies how employers 
and employees will transition from the 
Workplace Relations Act 1996 into the new 
Fair Work system

• the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) 
Act 2009 which deals with registered 
organisations, previously contained in the 
Workplace Relations Act 1996 and

• the Fair Work (State Referral and 
Consequential and other Amendments)  
Act 2009, which will deal with the referral 
of state industrial relations powers 
that cover the private sector to the 
Commonwealth.

The OCPE continues to monitor, and respond 
as required on behalf of the Northern Territory 
Government, on contemporary developments 
in national industrial relations.  As a result, 
the time spent on industrial policy matters has 
continued to increase.

Likewise, the time spent providing  
information and advice on NTPS employment 
and ensuring that OCPE continues to work  
within and comply with the new national  
laws in relation to workplace bargaining, has 
also increased.
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Some of the specific matters that OCPE has 
concluded or will continue in 2009-10 are:

• modification of internal procedures to satisfy 
the requirements of the Fair Work Act 2009 
and Fair Work Australia

• guidance to public sector human resource 
practitioners on the application of changes

• preparation of joint state and  
NT Government submissions to  
individual tribunals

• analysis of the Fair Work Act 2009 and 
subsequent industrial legislation as it 
relates to NTPS terms and conditions of 
employment, with appropriate amendments, 
as required

• analysis of the Fair Work Act 2009 and 
subsequent industrial legislation as it 
relates to public sector agreement making 
processes and

• preparation of submissions to the Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission in relation 
to the award modernisation process as it 
relates to NT public sector awards.

Strategic Public Sector Human 
Resource Management Policy

Introduction

The OCPE provides strategic leadership 
and policy to NTPS agencies in human 
resource management to help them achieve 
government’s objectives.

Ministerial and Cabinet Advice
The OCPE provided formal advice on 
employment relations matters to the Minister 
and Cabinet on a diverse range of topics 
including workplace agreement negotiations 
for teachers, dental officers and firefighters, 
industrial disputes such as the meal dispute at 
Don Dale Centre, national industrial relations 
issues such as the Workplace Relations 
Minister’s Council, award modernisation 
issues and ILO Conventions.

Ethical Standards
PSEMA provides a governance and 
accountability framework for all Public Sector 
agencies and employees. Under PSEMA, 
the Commissioner for Public Employment is 
responsible for consulting with and advising 
CEOs on human resource practices and 
procedures in their agencies.

Essential components of the governance 
and accountability framework are detailed in 
Part 2 of the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Regulations. They include the:

• principles of public administration  
and management
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• principles of human resource  
management and

• principles of conduct.

Public Sector employees are required 
to uphold the highest ethical standards 
of behaviour and maintain the trust and 
confidence of the community and the 
Government which they serve. To assist 
employees in meeting these expectations 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
has issued Employment Instruction No 13 – 
Code of Conduct. The Code provides specific 
guidance on a range of ethical and moral 
issues that may impact on employees in the 
course of their employment and service to  
the community.

Individual agencies may also issue their own 
specific code of conduct that is consistent with 
PSEMA and other legislation.

The ethical standard framework is currently 
under review as part of the broader review  
of PSEMA.

Occupational Health and Safety

Implementation of the Workplace 
Health and Safety Act in the NTPS
Working in conjunction with NT WorkSafe 
and the Department of Business and 
Employment (DBE), OCPE has supported 
the implementation of the Workplace Health 
and Safety Act across the NTPS. In 2009, 
the Commissioner reviewed and re-issued 
a revised Employment Instruction No 12: 
Occupational Health and Safety Programs 
to ensure its consistency with the Workplace 
Health and Safety Act.

Implementation of Legislation and 
Other Matters in the NTPS

Pandemic Influenza Planning
In support of the NT Special Counter  
Disaster Plan – Human Pandemic Influenza, 
the OCPE developed the “NTPS Pandemic 
Planning Employment Framework and 
Guidelines” to assist agencies and inform 
employees with the management of 
employment related issues in the event 
of a human influenza pandemic within the 
Northern Territory. The Framework addresses 
such issues as workplace attendance, 
leave considerations, working from home, 
salary and wage considerations, transfer of 
employees, workplace closure implications 
and employee consultation.

While the Framework only formally operates 
when the Chief Minister instigates it, on the 
advice of the NT Counter Disaster Council, 
it was used by agencies to guide the 
management of their employees when the 
H1N1 (Swine flu) pandemic was declared.

Care and Protection of Children Act
The Care and Protection of Children Act 
2007 establishes provisions to ensure 
individuals who pose an unacceptable risk 
of harm or exploitation to children (defined 
as a person less than 18 years of age) are 
prevented from contacting children through 
their employment.  The legislation comes 
into effect from 1 January 2010 and requires 
employees in child related employment to 
hold a Clearance Notice under section 187 of 
the Act. OCPE lead an inter-agency working 
group to identify and assess the broader 
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public sector implications of the legislation on 
NTPS employees.  OCPE will be responsible 
for disseminating information to public sector 
employees regarding the potential impact on 
employment resulting from the Act.

Public Interest Disclosure Act 
(Whistleblower’s Legislation)
The Public Interest Disclosure Act provides 
for disclosure of improper conduct on the part 
of public officers and public bodies, including 
in the NTPS and by NTPS employees, and 
protects persons who make public interest 
disclosures from acts of reprisal.  The Act is 
effective from 31 July 2009 and disclosures 
can be made to the CEO of the agency 
or directly to the Commissioner for Public 
Interest Disclosures.  It is intended that the 
Commissioner for Public Interest Disclosures 
be able to refer relevant matters for 
investigation to the Commissioner for  
Public Employment under section 15,  
“Special Powers of Investigation”, of PSEMA. 
There is potential for discipline matters to fall 
within the jurisdiction of the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act as well as PSEMA and this 
issue is being explored with the Public Interest 
Disclosure Commissioner.

Remote Locality Working Conditions
Delivering NT Government services to  
people living in remote parts of the Territory 
depends on the NTPS workforce in those 
areas and is particularly crucial in regional 
and Indigenous development.  Living and 
working in the Territory’s remote areas brings 
opportunities and challenges. To recruit and 

retain these employees it is critical that they 
receive appropriate levels of entitlements  
and opportunities.

There has been considerable amendment and 
variation to remote locality provisions in recent 
years implemented through the workplace 
agreement process.  Examples of some 
implemented in 2008-09 include: consolidating 
freight allowance and Professional Isolation 
Allowance for Teachers, and a new isolated 
incentives package for police which increases 
some current entitlements (e.g. general 
duties allowance) and improves provisions for 
satellite TV and internet services.

In 2008-09 OCPE completed a project to 
identify current recruitment and retention 
initiatives for remote and regional areas  
in Northern Territory, Queensland,  
South Australia and Western Australia.   
This information will assist the OCPE in the 
development of future regional and remote 
initiatives.  OCPE will continue to monitor  
the effectiveness of remote locality provisions 
and make improvements as required.

Work-Life Balance
The NT Government supports employees in 
balancing their work and life commitments 
and recognises that balancing the needs 
of the workplace with those of employees 
will create a more effective and productive 
NTPS. To facilitate this, a variety of Work Life 
Balance initiatives have been developed to 
assist employees to achieve a better balance 
between their work and personal lives.   
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These initiatives are covered by the  
Northern Territory Public Sector 2008-10 
Union Collective Agreement and include:

• flexible working arrangements

• home-based work

• job sharing

• part-time work

• career breaks

• part-year employment

• short-term absences for family and 
community responsibilities

• paid paternity/partner’s leave of 5 days 
on the birth of a child by the employee’s 
spouse or partner

• option of utilisation of recreation leave at 
half pay

• purchase of additional leave and

• extended leave schemes.

2008-09 saw the extension of similar Work 
Life Balance initiatives to employees across 
the NTPS in all finalised agreements.

OCPE continues to monitor work and family 
issues and initiatives to ensure the NTPS 
initiatives reflect contemporary practice.

Public Sector Consultative Council
The Public Sector Consultative Council is 
established under PSEMA. Its function is 
to consider matters of general interest in 
relation to the public sector referred to it by the 
Commissioner for Public Employment and to 
report on these matters to the Commissioner. 

The council met three times in 2008–09, in 
August 2008, December 2008 and April 2009.  
Matters considered included:

• the State of the Service Report

• equity, diversity and flexibility

• matters arising from workplace agreements

• grievance and promotion appeals

• reform and revitalisation strategy for  
the NTPS

• the Care and Protection of Children Act

• the application in NTPS of the Fair Work Act

• Workplace Health and Safety Act

• review of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act

• the Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy

• the Willing and Able Strategy

• Biennial sector wide employee survey and

• the Public Interest Disclosure Act.
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Northern Territory Public 
Sector Employment Framework 
Introduction
The NTPS employment framework consists 
of workplace agreements made under the 
Workplace Relations Act (Commonwealth), 
PSEMA, and subordinate legislation including:

• Regulations (machinery matters)

• By-laws (general employment conditions 
and entitlements)

• Employment Instructions (direction and 
guidance on practice and procedures 
relating to employment matters)

• Public Sector Instruments (Delegations of 
the Commissioner’s powers in respect to 
employment matters arising from PSEMA)

• Determinations regarding employment 
matters permitted by PSEMA and issued by 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
and

• sector wide policies such as the  
Wages Policy and Advertising and 
Recruitment Policy.

The framework includes the Public 
Employment (Mobility) Act, which enables 
mobility in employment between certain  
areas of public employment in the  
Northern Territory without loss of accrued 
conditions of employment.

The framework provides the Commissioner  
for Public Employment with a range of 
statutory powers.

Review of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act
In December 2008, as part of the NTPS 
Reform and Revitalisation package, the 
Minister for Public Employment publicly 
announced a review the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act and 
subordinate legislation.

The review was conducted by a Review 
Committee constituted by an independent 
chair, Mr Barry Chambers; the Commissioner 
for Public Employment, Mr Ken Simpson; 
and the former Regional Director of the 
Community and Public Sector Union,  
Ms Naomi Porrovecchio.  Submissions from 
any interested party were called and to assist, 
a discussion paper was released.  A total of 
45 submissions were received and considered 
by the Review Committee.  The final report by 
the Review Committee was provided to the 
Minister in July 2009 for his consideration.

Exercise of Statutory Powers

Approval of Selections without 
Advertising a Vacancy
The recruitment and selection processes 
within the NTPS are underpinned by the merit 
principle, which requires all appointments, 
promotions or transfers to be on the basis 
of, and only on the basis of, the capacity 
of the person to perform particular duties, 
having regard to the person’s knowledge, 
skills, qualifications and experience and the 
potential for future development of the person 
in employment in the public sector.
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Under PSEMA, the Commissioner for  
Public Employment has the power to approve 
the appointment of a person to a position 
without the vacancy having been advertised.  
All applications from agencies for approval 
to select without advertising are assessed 
against a number of criteria to ensure the 
merit principle is upheld.  During the  
2008-09 reporting period, the OCPE received 
63 requests to appoint without advertising, 
of these 9 were not approved.  This was a 
decrease in comparison to the 153 requests 
received in the 2007-08 reporting period.  
In general, the main thrust of the requests 
received in the last year was: 

• to finalise outstanding outcomes from the 
technical and physical review implemented 
under previous workplace agreements

• to appoint individuals to difficult to recruit 
to positions or difficult to recruit to localities 
where prior advertising had not been 
successful and

• the appointment of apprentices and 
trainees finalising their apprenticeships or 
traineeships.

Determinations and Instruments
 The Commissioner for Public Employment 
has the power under PSEMA to determine 
terms and conditions of employment for all 
employees or groups of employees across the 
NTPS.  Determinations issued during 2008-09 
related to:

• review of Allowances such as camping 
allowance, relocation allowance and tool 
allowances 

• rates of Pay for public sector employees 
arising from workplace agreements

• revised temporary and casual contracts  
of employment

• responsibility, skills and market allowances

• recognition of previous employers for  
prior service

• allowances in lieu of overtime and

• recreation leave at half pay.

In the 2008-09 reporting period, the 
Commissioner for Public Employment also 
issued three Public Sector Instruments 
delegating his powers to CEOs to:

• renew temporary employment contracts on 
more than one occasion

• appoint without advertising employees 
at the Administrative Officer (AO)1 to 
AO2 level and Physical (PH) 1 to PH2 
designation in remote communities and

• determine the meaning of “dependent” 
relevant to specific Public Sector 
Employment and Management By-laws.
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Industrial Relations and 
Employee Relations Advice

Advisory Services
A major role of OCPE is to provide specialised 
human resources and industrial relations 
consultancy services to agencies, employees 
and members of the public. This includes 
interpreting the employment framework, 
conditions of service, recruitment and 
selection, reviews and appeals, industrial 
relations, job evaluation, redeployment and 
redundancy and discipline and inability 
matters.  In 2009, OCPE continued to provide 
this support to the human resource areas 
in agencies, as well as providing advice to 
enquiries from individual employees.

Executive Contract of 
Employment Arrangements
Executive Contract Officers (ECOs) in the 
NTPS are employed under contract for periods 
not exceeding four years. The use of contracts 
for executives provides flexibility in both 
employment and remuneration arrangements. 
These arrangements are balanced by 
an increased focus on performance and 
accountability, through formal annual 
performance reviews.

In 2008-09, CEO Performance Agreement 
guidelines and templates were amended to 
incorporate priorities in relation to Indigenous 
policy and Closing the Gap initiatives.  The 

guidelines were also amended to align the 
timing of CEOs' reports on achievements and 
new performance agreements with Ministers, 
to 1 August each year.

A review of ECO contract terms and conditions 
of employment to reflect changes and 
contemporary practices is expected to be 
completed in 2009-10.

Job Evaluation Policy  
and Training
The Mercer Job Evaluation System (JES) 
is the primary method of determining the 
work value of jobs across the majority of 
employment streams within the NTPS.  Those 
streams not covered by the Mercer JES have 
work values determined by competency 
or other arrangements as outlined in their 
applicable workplace agreements.  The  
OCPE is responsible for ensuring the integrity 
of the JES in the NTPS through managing the 
policy arrangements, strategic administration 
of the system including compliance with 
the licensing agreement, training and audit 
arrangements, and dissemination of and 
access to information about the JES and  
audit outcomes.  The practical administration 
of the JES, such as coordination of panels, 
collation and recording of results, and 
coordination of the training courses, is 
undertaken by the Department of Business 
and Employment (DBE).
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In the financial year 2008-09 the OCPE:

• introduced JES “Benchmarking”  
procedures for the NTPS

• introduced a simplified Job Analysis 
Questionnaire template and completion 
procedures, for use by AO1 to AO4 and 
equivalent designations and

• developed and delivered JES Information 
Sessions as part of the HR/IR Capacity 
Building strategy.

Also in relation to JES:

• Four job evaluation courses were held 
in Darwin and Alice Springs resulting 
in training 68 new evaluators who can 
apply their skills throughout the NTPS.  
Three ‘Refresher’ courses were held, two 
in Darwin and one in Alice Springs, for 
evaluators who have not applied their skills 
for an extended period.

• The Mercer annual audit of the JES was 
completed in March 2009.  Under the 
existing Licensing Agreement, Mercer 
conduct an annual audit of its system 
to ensure the JES is being applied in a 
consistent and professional manner, and 
is continuing to provide a sound basis for 
salary administration and human resource 
management generally.  Through the audit 
process Mercer can raise areas of concern 
that need to be addressed.

• In 2008-09 there were 1210 positions 
evaluated using JES.

Northern Territory Government 
Input to International Labour 
Organisation Matters
 On behalf of the NT Government, OCPE 
reports annually on Ratified and Unratified 
Conventions as specified by the International 
Labour Organisation (ILO), through the 
Australian Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations, which 
administers all ILO matters nationally. 

During this reporting period the OCPE 
reported on the following Unratified 
Conventions and recommendations:

• Private Employment Agencies Convention, 
1977 (No. 181)

• Job Creation in Small and Medium  
Sized Enterprises Recommendation,  
1998 (No. 189) and

• Promotion of Cooperatives 
Recommendation, 2002 (No. 193).

The OCPE reported on the measures the 
NT had taken to give effect to the following 
Ratified Conventions:

• C029 Forced Labour Convention,  
1930 (No. 29)

• C081 Labour Inspection Convention,  
1947 (No. 81)

• C105 Abolition of Forced Labour 
Convention, 1957 (No.105)

• C142 Human Resources Development 
Convention, 1975 (No.142) and

• C182 Worst Forms of Child Labour 
Convention, 1999 (No.182).
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In addition, the OCPE provided responses to 
specific requests and observations made by 
the Committee of Experts on:

• Convention No. 29 - Forced Labour 
Convention, 1930 and

• Convention No. 81 - Labour Inspection 
Convention, 1947.

The OCPE also provided advice on HIV/
AIDS in the world of work for the Australian 
Government delegation attending the 
98th Session of the International Labour 
Conference, in June 2009.

Workforce Statistics  
and Analysis
The OCPE provides workforce statistics  
and analysis based on sector-wide personnel 
and pay information from a consolidated 
database system administered by DBE. 
In cooperation with the Northern Territory 
Treasury, the OCPE provided advice to 
Cabinet on public sector staffing levels 
by Budget sub agency division and by 
occupational stream. The OCPE also 
completed other analysis for the information  
of government and other agencies, as 
needed. Various personnel data extractions 
and analysis were also done on an ad hoc 
basis. These included tracking the Indigenous 
public sector demographic to the numbers 
and costs associated with scenarios being 
considered in relation to specific workplace 
agreement negotiations.

The OCPE also processed additional requests 
for data from interstate jurisdictions and the 
Australian Government, and prepared data 
and provided options for the annual State of 
the Service Report.

Central Management of  
and Policy Development for 
Public Sector Redeployment 
and Redundancy
The OCPE manages redeployment and 
redundancy matters in the NTPS. Changes to 
the redeployment and redundancy provisions 
were made during the development of all of 
the Collective Agreements finalised over the 
last 12 months to ensure compliance with the 
Workplace Relations Act.

In 2008-09, eight employees elected for 
voluntary retrenchment. There were no 
involuntary retrenchments.

Secretariat Services to  
the Prison Officers Arbitral 
Tribunal and the Police Arbitral 
Tribunal and Administration of 
the Police Administration Act 
(Part III)
The Prison Officers Arbitral Tribunal and 
Police Arbitral Tribunal are established under 
Northern Territory legislation and OCPE staff 
are appointed to provide secretariat services.

The tribunals carry out functions similar to the 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission.  
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While there were no matters referred to the 
Prison Officers Arbitral Tribunal during the 
reporting period, four new matters were 
referred to the Police Arbitral Tribunal.

The Police Arbitral Tribunal also continued to 
deal with a 2005-06 housing matter, which is 
anticipated will be resolved during the next 
reporting period.

Priorities for 2009-10
• Implement the outcomes of the review 

of PSEMA and review of subordinate 
legislation and associated policies to 
ensure the NTPS legislative framework is 
contemporary.

• Streamline conditions under the general 
NTPS agreement to achieve consistency 
where practical.

• Continued development of measures  
to improve the human resource and 
industrial relations management capability 
within the NTPS.

• Finalise a recruitment and retention review.

• Finalise and implement the new NTPS 
Wages Policy.

• Develop parameters and commence 
negotiations of new workplace  
agreements for general NTPS employees, 
Power Water employees, teachers and 
educators, firefighters, medical officers  
and Police Housing.

• Monitor and assess implications of the 
Commonwealth’s new Fair Work Act and 
implement appropriate responses for both 
the public and private sectors.

• Monitor and make submissions in the 
Commonwealth Government’s award 
modernisation process.

• Oversee the implementation in the NTPS  
of the Commonwealth’s Paid Parental 
Leave scheme.

• Finalise a review of Executive Contract 
Officers arrangements.

• Monitor and implement appropriate 
responses in the NTPS to:

 ◦ the H1N1 Influenza outbreak
 ◦ Care and Protection of Children Act and
 ◦ Public Interest Disclosure Act.
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Overview
The Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development (SWP&D) unit is responsible 
for building capacity within the NTPS through 
preparation and implementation of appropriate 
workforce planning and development 
strategies. This includes the introduction 
and promotion of workforce planning 
methodologies in agencies, the coordination 
of workforce development activities including 
executive leadership and management, the 
promotion of equity and diversity in the  
NTPS, and increasing the employment of 
Indigenous people and disadvantaged  
groups within the NTPS.

A whole of service Strategic Workforce 
Plan was approved by Cabinet to deal 
with modernisation of the service and the 
fundamentals under which it operates.  In 
essence, the plan set down the work program 
for the next two years.

Workforce Planning

NTPS Workforce Planning Framework
A key component under the NTPS Strategic 
Workforce Plan was to develop a whole of 
service workforce planning framework and 
methodology with the aim to have a common 
understanding across the NTPS on what 
workforce planning is, and a methodology to 
be available to agencies as a guide to their 
own planning work.

The framework and methodology entitled 
“Making Workforce Planning Work in 
the Northern Territory Public Sector” has 
been completed.  The publication will be 
complimented with targeted training for 
identified agency champions.

The workforce planning framework and 
methodology is based on Standards 
Australia’s HB299-2008 Workforce Planning 
Handbook.  The completion of the framework 
and methodology is the start of the workforce 
planning skills capacity building in the NTPS.

A Workforce Planning Forum for NTPS 
Human Resource practitioners and Chief 
Financial Officers was hosted.

Biennial Staff Surveys
The procurement process for the first biennial 
Northern Territory Public Sector Employee 
Survey, to cover 2008-09, was completed, 
allowing the actual survey to commence on 
27 July 2009. The purpose of the Survey is 
to obtain employees' opinions about the work 
practices and cultures in NTPS workplaces so 
that future work programs of agencies and the 
OCPE can continue to position the NTPS as 
an employer of choice. The survey includes 
questions agreed by the Inter-jurisdictional 
Survey Working Group for jurisdictional 
comparative purposes. The survey was 
designed to be available both online and 
paper based.

Output 2 – Workforce Planning
and Development

Estimated cost of service: $3.70 million 
Actual cost of service: $3.55 million 

Staffing: 12
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Willing and Able Strategy  
- a strategy for the employment  
of people with disability
The Willing and Able Strategy – a strategy 
for the employment of people with disability 
provides a framework for the public sector to 
increase the attraction and retention rate and 
improve career enhancement opportunities 
for people with disability in the public sector 
enabling the workforce to reflect the diversity 
of the community it serves.

As part of the review of PSEMA an 
amendment to the definition of merit has been 
approved to include the value of diversity 
that a person from an equal employment 
opportunity target group, which includes 
people with disability, brings to the workplace.

An evaluation of the provision of a specialised 
recruitment service for the employment of 
people with disability was also completed 
in early 2009. A consultation workshop with 
key stakeholders occurred to inform the next 
strategy.  The key themes identified were 
attraction and retention, communication, 
leadership and career development, and 
accessibility in the workplace.

Since the implementation of the inaugural 
Willing and Able Strategy in 2003, the 
percentage of people in the public sector who 
have voluntarily identified having a disability 
has gradually increased from 1.3% to 1.8% in 
June 2009.

Northern Territory Public Sector 
Indigenous Employment and  
Career Development
The Draft Northern Territory Public Sector 
Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy 2009-2012 was 
developed in consultation with public sector 
stakeholders.  In September 2008 the OCPE 
hosted the ‘We Need Your Help’ Forum, 
facilitated by a local Indigenous consultant.  
The forum was specifically designed for 
Indigenous employees from urban, rural, 
regional and remote workplaces to workshop 
ideas on attraction and retention of Indigenous 
employees in the NTPS.

The purpose of a new strategy is to improve 
the attraction and retention of Indigenous 
Australians into the NTPS through leadership, 
effective recruitment, career development and 
engendering cultural respect.

The strategy will align to and complement 
priorities and targets set by the Australian and 
Northern Territory governments for Indigenous 
Australians.

The OCPE continues to monitor progress 
to achieve increased Indigenous employee 
representation across the NTPS.
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Northern Territory Government  
and Batchelor Institute of  
Indigenous Tertiary Education 
Partnership Agreement 
Representatives of the OCPE participated 
as a member of the Course Monitoring 
Committee to review the Business 
qualifications as part of Batchelor Institute 
of Indigenous Tertiary Education quality 
assurance measures.

Establishment of a ‘Think Tank’
A Think Tank was established to consider 
strategic issues facing the NTPS.  
Membership comprised 26 executives from 
across the NTPS, and 2 executives from the 
Australian Public Service.  The Think Tank had 
the opportunity to make recommendations 
which would lead to a revitalised NTPS 
including Indigenous employment, regional 
and remote, and workforce planning issues.  
Specific objectives included:

• Developing a view of the shape of the NTPS 
going forward, including workforce planning 
strategies, which can be used to maintain 
momentum and attract young Territorians.

• Developing recommendations that would 
foster employment in regions outside 
of Darwin, including the attraction and 
development of Indigenous employees.

• Developing an innovation, recognition 
and reward strategy for the NTPS and 
guidelines for agency-based programs.

• Developing knowledge  
management strategies.

• Identifying how some early gains could be 
made by developing good ideas that are 
simple and easy to implement, that do not 
require major policy change.

• Identifying the risks to implementation of  
the recommendations.

Think Tank members attended 5 workshops 
in preparation for a presentation of 
recommendations to Co-ordination Committee 
in July 2009.

Public Sector Reward, Innovation  
and Development Program
The OCPE worked with agencies to  
develop a new Public Sector Reward, 
Innovation and Development Program.   
The new program is expected to incorporate 
the current biennial Chief Minister’s Awards 
for Excellence in the Public Sector and the 
biennial Commissioner’s Equity and Diversity 
Awards.  The implementation phase will  
occur in 2009–10.

Table 1 – Identified Indigenous Territorians in the NTPS

June 
2003

June 
2004

June 
2005

June 
2006

June 
2007

June 
2008

June 
2009

Identified Indigenous 
Territorians in the NTPS 5.0% 5.7% 6.6% 6.9% 7.3% 7.7% 8.1%
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2008 Chief Minister’s Awards for 
Excellence in the Public Sector
The Chief Minister’s Awards for Excellence in 
the Public Sector aims to recognise, inspire 
and reward work groups and teams across the 
NTPS that have been involved in outstanding 
projects or initiatives.

The 2008 Awards attracted a total of  
54 submissions across five categories.

Cross Government Collaboration category 
recognises outstanding performance and 
achievements that promote cross-government 
cooperation and partnership initiatives.

Winner
Department of Local Government and 
Housing, Northern Territory Emergency 
Response Project Team and Centrelink 
Indigenous Response Team for their 
‘Aboriginal Interpreter Services and  
Centrelink’ initiative.

Finalists
Department of the Chief Minister, 
Partnership Unit – Policy, Coordination and 
Implementation for the ‘Charles Darwin 
University/Northern Territory Government 
Partnership Agreement’.

Department of Health and Families, 
Palmerston Safe Communities Committee for 
the ‘Palmerston Safe Communities’ program.

Engagement with the Community category 
recognises outstanding performance and 
achievements that promote the highly  
effective engagement of Government with  
the community.

Winner
Department of Natural Resources, 
Environment, the Arts and Sport, Water 
Management Branch, for ‘Katherine Water 
Allocation Planning’.

Finalists
Department of Business and Employment, 
Business Partnership Unit, for ‘October 
Business Month - 2008’.

Department of Justice in conjunction with NT 
Police, Fire and Emergency Services, Alcohol 
Restrictions Sub-Committee, East Arnhem for 
the ‘East Arnhem Liquor Permit System’.

Closing the Gap of Indigenous 
Disadvantage category recognises 
outstanding performance and achievements 
that support and promote the socio-economic 
well-being of Indigenous Territorians.

Winner
Department of Education and Training, 
Taminmin High School, for their ‘Remote 
Vocational Education and Training Delivery’.
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Finalists
Department of Education and Training, 
Indigenous Priority Projects Unit, Central 
Australia for the ‘Alice Springs Indigenous 
Education Strategy’.

Department of Health and Families, Nauiyu 
Health Centre, for ‘Strong Spirit Strong Body 
Nauiyu Youth Project’.

Strengthening Regional and Remote NT 
category recognises outstanding performance 
and achievements that promote strong and 
vibrant regional and remote communities.

Winner
Department of Health and Families, NT Renal 
Services for the ‘Development of NT Renal 
Services through Renal Clinical Reference 
Group and Renal Services Strategy’.

Finalists
Power and Water Corporation, Remote 
Operations – Community Liaison  
Section with their project ‘Promoting NT 
Indigenous Regional and Remote Community 
Capacity Building’.

Department of Natural Resource, Environment, 
the Arts and Sport NT Library 
for the ‘Community Library Officers Forum’.

Building a Skilled Workforce category 
recognises outstanding performance and 
achievements that promote a diverse, skilled 
and sustainable public sector workforce.

Winner
Department of Health and Families, People and 
Organisational Learning for their ‘Leadership 
and Management Development Program’.

Finalists
Department of Health and Families, Gove 
District Hospital for their project ‘Advanced 
Clinical Nurse’.

Department of Education and Training for their 
initiative ‘More Indigenous Teachers’.

Building Human Resource and  
Industrial Relations Capacity in  
the NTPS
The OCPE hosts HR Forums on a quarterly 
basis to build capacity of NTPS human  
resource practitioners and business  
managers. The forums are designed to develop 
human resource and industrial relations 
capability by sharing an understanding on 
contemporary issues and initiatives impacting 
on the public sector.

Timor-Leste Internship Scheme
The Chief Minister of the Northern Territory 
announced on 30 October 2008 “ten new 
internships for Timor-Leste civil servants” 
to gain work experience from short term 
placements in the NTPS.

The OCPE worked with representatives from 
the Timor-Leste Civil Service to determine 
the scope of the scheme and identify where 
the NTPS could assist in maximising learning 
and experiential outcomes for civil servants. 
Efforts to concentrate on building the capacity 
of emerging middle managers in the fields of 
human resource and corporate management is 
the focus of the internship scheme.

The duration of the scheme is eight weeks and 
the first phase of four Timor-Leste  
officials commenced in June 2009. Host 
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agencies were the departments of  
Business and Employment, Planning  
and Infrastructure, Education and Training  
and Health and Families.

Year 10 Work Experience for  
Remote Indigenous Boarders
The OCPE developed and coordinated a 
new Work Experience Program for Remote 
Indigenous Boarders, which is aimed at 
promoting the various career opportunities 
available in the NTPS.  In May 2009, eight 
Year 11 students participated in this program 
from Kormilda College and in June 2009, 
twenty eight Year 10 Indigenous students 
participated from St John’s College.

Workforce Development

Northern Territory Government  
and Charles Darwin University 
Partnership Agreement
OCPE continues to sponsor the Chair of 
Governance through the Northern Territory 
Government and Charles Darwin University 
partnership agreement.  The position provides 
leadership in research and consultancy and, in 
partnership with the NTPS, guides the further 
development of programs in governance and 
public sector management to meet emerging 
workforce needs. OCPE also continued to 
support a Chair of Human Resources. The 
support is provided based on the Chair being 
able to help develop strategic human resource 
management at all levels and to enhance 
capacity in the NTPS.

Under the Good Governance Schedule, 
Charles Darwin University delivered a  
5 day Masters level unit "Policy Systems, 
Design and Analysis" for 13 NTPS  
Graduates. The opportunity to be awarded 
10 credits towards the Master of Public 
Governance with a specialisation in Public 
Management was offered to students who 
completed assignments.

Representatives of the OCPE  
participated in the Course Advisory Group 
for the re-accreditation of the Master of 
Business Administration.

Australia and New Zealand  
School of Government
The Northern Territory in partnership with 
Charles Darwin University became members 
of the Australia and New Zealand School 
of Government offering accredited and non 
accredited executive training and commits 
annually to two executives in the Executive 
Masters in Public Administration program, 
and one executive for the Executive Fellows 
program.  Additionally, the Auditor General 
attended the CEOs Forum 2009.
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Executive Leadership  
Development Strategy
The Executive Leadership Development 
Strategy is a sector wide approach to building 
our own leaders from within the public sector.  
As part of the strategy, agencies were invited 
to nominate potential leaders to participate 
in 360 degree feedback.  The feedback is 
to assist the individual in understanding 
their strengths and weaknesses against the 
NTPS Executive Leadership Capabilities and 
contributes to insights into aspects of their 
work requiring professional development.  A 
total of 72 nominations were received from 

across the public sector. The next stage of this 
process is for an analysis of the public sector's 
skill gaps against the Northern Territory Public 
Sector Executive Leadership Capabilities 
which will inform future executive training and 
development initiatives.

Career Mapping
The OCPE continued to sponsor career 
management workshops, such as Make your 
Move, Activate your Career and Creating 
Career Success held in Darwin, Casuarina 
and Alice Springs. These programs were 
supported as follows:

Table 2 – Career Management Workshops
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Creating Career Success 121 101 6 7 22 39
Activate Your Career 18 14 1 3 1 8
It’s Your Move – Graduates 8 5 - - 5 -
Make Your Move 65 59 11 1 42 -
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Remote Workforce Development
The Remote Workforce Development Strategy 
(RWDS) was launched in November 2003 
and provides approximately $1 million a year 
towards the professional development of 
remote employees, improving NTPS service 
delivery and, by extension, fostering improved 
outcomes in remote locations. The strategy  
is a whole of government approach to 
improving links between agencies and 
addressing the challenges of distance, 
isolation and cost in providing support and 
development opportunities.

The RWDS is a unique workforce 
development initiative providing additional 
support and professional development 
opportunities for remote based NTPS 
employees.  Funding was awarded to 6 
remote female employees to take part in the 
Discovery – Women as Leaders Program 
in Alice Springs in 2008.  Over 600 remote 
employees across the Northern Territory have 
received RWDS funding to attend professional 
development activities.

Development Programs

Public Sector Management Program
OCPE hosts the Public Sector Management 
(PSM) Program in the Northern Territory.  The 
PSM Program is a national management 
program for aspiring and current middle-to-
senior managers working in local, state or 
Australian government across Australia.  The 
program is carried out over 12 months and 
all participants that successfully complete the 

program will receive a Graduate  
Certificate in Public Sector Management  
from Flinders University.

Since 1993 there have been a total of 583 
graduates from this program and a further  
19 participants are expected to graduate in 
late 2009.

Discovery – Women as  
Leaders Program
The Discovery – Women as Leaders Program 
is a unique personal and professional 
development program for women designed to 
increase the number of women in leadership 
roles across the NTPS. This is achieved 
by enabling women to develop greater 
confidence, learn leadership skills and build 
valuable support and business networks.

The program is carried out over 3 modules 
and is offered twice a year, in Darwin and  
Alice Springs. The program was fully 
supported in 2008-09 with 22 participants  
on each program.
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Priorities for 2009-10
• Implementation of the inaugural biennial 

NTPS staff survey.

• Introduction of guidelines for the  
Innovation, Recognition and Reward 
program for the NTPS.

• Implementation and reporting of the NTPS 
Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy 2009-2012.

• Implementation and reporting of the 
Willing and Able Strategy - strategy for the 
employment of people with disability in the 
Northern Territory Public Sector 2009-2012.

• Development of HR/IR capacity in  
the NTPS.

• Development of a package to promote 
public sector values.

• Implementation of deliverables under the 
Public Sector Reward, Innovation and 
Development Program.

• Design and implement a skills development 
program ‘Machinery of Government’ 
framework for AO5-AO8.
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Overview
The Promotion Appeals & Grievance Reviews 
(PA&GR) unit has two main functions:

• Conduct promotion, disciplinary and inability 
appeals in accordance with sections 55 
through 58 of PSEMA.

• Provide employees with independent and 
impartial review of agency actions and 
decisions through the grievance review 
process set out in section 59 of PSEMA.

The unit’s objective is to ensure merit, 
equity and fairness prevail in public sector 
management through education and effective, 
impartial and independent grievance review 
and appeal mechanisms.

Key Achievements 2008–09
• 58 promotion appeals completed.

• 113 section 59 grievances handled  
(89 finalised).

• 8 disciplinary appeals conducted  
(6 completed).

• 3 inability appeals conducted (2 completed).

• Implemented new grievance  
handling processes which use a more 
flexible approach, concentrating on 
achieving resolution through negotiation 
and mediation.

• Continued a campaign to improve 
government merit selection processes 
through education and training, including 

production and distribution of the “Merit 
Selection Good Practice Guidelines”.

• Developed and implemented new practices 
in the handling of promotion appeals, 
with increased emphasis on providing a 
transparent process and comprehensive 
reasons for decisions.

• Conducted a larger than usual number  
of disciplinary and inability appeals in a 
timely manner.

Appeals in 2008–09
Promotion, Disciplinary and Inability Appeal 
Boards operate as independent bodies, 
located for administrative purposes within the 
Promotion Appeals & Grievance Reviews unit 
of the OCPE.

Promotion Appeals
Promotion appeals are conducted in 
accordance with sections 55 and 56 of 
PSEMA and Regulations 9, 10, 11 and 12 of 
the Public Sector Employment Regulations.

Promotion appeals can only be made by 
existing employees, in situations where the 
selection is a promotion for both the appellant 
and the provisional promotee. The only 
ground of appeal is that the appellant has 
superior merit to the provisional promotee.

The board can make only one of three 
decisions: allow the appeal, disallow the 
appeal, or direct the agency to re-advertise 
the vacancy.

Output 3 – Appeals and Reviews
Estimated cost of service: $0.61 million 

Actual cost of service: $0.56 million 
Staffing: 4
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Promotion Appeals Statistics

Table 3 – Number and Percentage of NTPS Promotions Appealed

Year Promotions Promotion Appeals %
2002-03 930 35 3.8%
2003-04 1031 29 2.8%
2004-05 1215 100 8.2%
2005-06 1158 36 3.1%
2006–07 1255 54 4.3%
2007–08 1365 72 5.2%
2008–09 1532 58 3.8%

In 2007–08, the average time from receipt of a  
promotion appeal to completion was 8.5 weeks.  
This has lowered to 6.6 weeks in 2008-09. 

Table 4 – Summary of Promotion Appeals Statistics

2003–04 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09
Appeals carried over 3 4 7 1 9 3
Appeals received 29 146 36 54 72 55
Total handled 32 50 43 55 81 58
Finalised 28 143 42 46 78 56
Allowed 2 1 1 3 1 3
Disallowed 16 47 27 16 29 30
Readvertised 0 2 1 0 12 2
Withdrawn 5 38 8 4 15 15
Vacated (Cancelled) 5 55 5 23 21 6
On hand at end of period 4 7 1 9 3 2

* The decrease in the number of re-advertise decisions can be attributed to new practices of the PAB which  
encourage exchange of information and discussion between the parties prior to determination at hearing, with the  
result that appeals may be withdrawn or selections vacated if the agency is concerned that the selection process  
will not stand up to scrutiny.

The figures for 2004-05 do not include 46 protective appeals handled in 2004–05, but do include 2 bulk selection 
processes resulting in multiple appeals. The figures for 2006–07 and for 2007–08 do not include the 20 protective 
appeals handled in 2006–07 or the 1671 protective appeals handled in 2007–08.
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Disciplinary and Inability Appeals
• Disciplinary and Inability appeals are 

conducted in accordance with sections 57 
and 58 of PSEMA and Regulations 13 to 18.

• In 2008–09 there were 8 Disciplinary 
appeals: 2 disallowed (upholding CEO’s 
decisions to terminate employment);  
1 allowed in part (directing re-instatement  
of the terminated employment),  
2 withdrawn, 1 vacated when the employee 
resigned, and 2 still pending.

• In 2008-09 there were 3 Inability appeals:  
2 settled by mediation, 1 still pending.

Section 59 Grievance  
Reviews of Treatment In 
Employment 2008–09
Pursuant to section 59 of PSEMA, employees 
aggrieved by their treatment in employment 
may request the Commissioner to review 
the action, intended action, or decision that 
concerns them.

In 2008–09 a total of 113 grievance reviews 
were handled, compared with 84 in the 
previous year. The substantial 35% increase 
in grievances is attributed to increased 
overall visibility of the Promotion Appeals & 
Grievance Reviews unit and closer working 
relationships with agency HR units.

The most common issues raised in grievances 
in 2008-09 were, in order of prevalence:

• management action or decision

• selection processes

• application of procedures and policies

• agency handling of bullying and  
harassment complaints and

• application of conditions of service.

The grievance review unit has implemented 
new processes that take a more flexible 
approach, concentrating, when possible, 
on achieving resolution through discussion, 
negotiation and mediation. This is achieving 
positive results. For example, in only 4 
instances has it been necessary for the 
Commissioner to specifically direct an agency 
to change their original action or decision.

Section 59 stipulates that the Commissioner 
shall conduct a review within 3 months of 
receiving a grievance however, in the past, 
timeliness in finalising reviews was much 
greater than this.

In 2006–07 the average time taken to 
finalise a section 59 grievance review was 
5.5 months, substantially over the 3 month 
statutory requirement. This improved in 
2007–08 to 3.5 months and has continued to 
improve so that, for grievances received in 
2008-09, the average time taken to finalise 
has reduced to 3.2 months.
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Priorities for 2009–10
• Continue to provide education and advice  

in relation to improving NTPS merit 
selection processes.

• Develop sector-wide selection policies 
and practices and provide education and 

Section 59 Grievance Reviews Statistics

Table 5 – Outcomes of Section 59 Grievance Reviews

Decisions 2006–07 2007–08 2008-09
Agency action confirmed 27 16 23
Resolved through PA&GR involvement n/a n/a 17
Resolved within the agency 3 13 7
Resolved by mediation 1 13 10
Agency directed to take/refrain from taking action 13 10 4
Declined to review (e.g. out of time, no jurisdiction, non-employee) 2 6 16
Withdrawn 11 4 12
On hand at the end of the period 22 22 24
Total handled 79 84 113

Table 6 – Reasons for Section 59 Grievance Reviews

Reasons 2007–08 2008-09
Management action or decision 11 45
Selection processes 19 26
Application of procedures and policies 18 18
Bullying and harassment 16 12
Application of conditions of service 15 10
Personal conflicts within the workplace 4 2
Termination of probationary employment 1 0
Total handled 84 113

2007–08 is the first year that the reasons for grievances have been included in these statistics and so there are no 
figures to report from previous financial years.

training in relation to the amendment to the 
definition of merit, which will include EEO 
diversity as one of the components of merit.

• Review and update the bullying and 
harassment framework for the NTPS.
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Output 4 – Northern Territory
Workplace Advocate

Estimated cost of service: $0.23 million 
Actual cost of service: $0.28 million 

Staffing: 1

Overview
The Northern Territory Workplace Advocate 
(NTWA) provided advice, information and 
assistance to Territory workers, employers 
and Government on workplace rights, 
obligations and developments in workplace 
relations matters promoting fair and productive 
workplaces in the Territory.

Workplace Advocate Activities
The NTWA was established in May 2006 
in response to the Northern Territory 
Government’s concerns about the fairness 
of the former Howard Government’s 
WorkChoices.  With the introduction of a 
new national industrial relations system by 
the Rudd government, the NTWA ceased 
operations on 30 June 2009.

Industrial Relations Advice
The NTWA provided a private sector policy 
advice resource to the Northern Territory 
Government.  This included:

• representing the Northern Territory 
Government at inter-governmental meetings

• providing analysis and advice on 
developments in industrial relations 
(particularly, developments arising from the 
Australian Government’s implementation 
of the “Forward with Fairness” policy 
and transitional legislation which will see 
significant reforms to the industrial relations 
system and will not be fully operational until 
January 2010) and

• providing advice to Northern Territory 
Government agencies that deal with private 
sector employment.

Public Advice
The NTWA operated a 1300 advice line to 
provide Territorians with easy to access advice 
on their workplace and employment rights and 
responsibilities. The NTWA also undertook 
a Labour Inspectorate role administering the 
Territory’s private sector Long Service Leave, 
Annual Leave and Public Holidays Acts.

For the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 
2009 the NTWA dealt with a total of 630 
enquiries. This represents an 11% increase 
in comparison to the 566 matters dealt with 
during the 2007-08 financial year.

The level of satisfaction of service provided 
by the Advocate during the 2008-09 period 
was excellent with 98% of clients surveyed 
indicating a very high level of satisfaction.
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Statistical Highlights
Graph 9 – NTWA Enquiries by Whom

Graph 10 – NTWA Enquiries by Gender
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Graph 11 – NTWA Enquiries by Type

Graph 12 – NTWA Enquiries by Industry

Enquiries by Whom

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Employers Workers Unions Parents Other*

2008/09 2007/08

2008/09 2007/08

2008/09 2007/08

2008/09 2007/08

Enquiries by Gender

44%

45%

46%

47%

48%

49%

50%

51%

52%

53%

54%

Male Female

Enquiries by Type

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Award

Dism
iss

al 
Te

rm
ina

tio
n

Prob
ati

on
 R

ed
un

da
nc

y

Disc
rim

ina
tio

n

Lo
ng

 S
erv

ice
 Le

av
e,

Ann
ua

l L
ea

ve
, P

ub
lic

 H
oli

da
ys

Mate
rni

ty 
& P

are
nta

l L
ea

ve

Work
ers

 C
om

pe
ns

ati
on

Occ
up

ati
on

al 
Hea

lth
 &

 S
afe

ty

Pers
on

ne
l M

an
ag

em
en

t

Work
pla

ce
 Agre

em
en

ts 
/

Con
tac

t C
on

dit
ion

s

Tre
atm

en
t a

t W
ork

Wag
es

Othe
r –

 C
on

flic
t R

es
olu

tio
n

Bus
ine

ss
/ H

R m
an

ag
em

en
t P

oli
cy

Enquiries by Industry

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Agri
cu

ltu
re,

Fore
str

y, 
Fish

ing

Com
mun

ica
tio

n S
erv

ice
s

Con
str

uc
tio

n

Edu
ca

tio
n

Hote
l A

cc
om

mod
ati

on

Elec
tric

ity,
 G

as
, W

ate
r

Hea
lth

, Com
mun

ity

Lo
ca

l C
ou

nc
il

Man
ufa

ctu
rin

g

Mec
ha

nic
al,

 E
lec

tric
al

Not 
Stat

ed

Prop
ert

y &
 B

us
ine

ss

Pers
on

al 
&

Othe
r S

erv
ice

s

NTG &
 APS

Reta
il

Tra
ns

po
rt

W
ho

les
ale

 Tr
ad

e

To
uri

sm
, C

ult
ura

l &
 R

ec
rea

tio
na

l

Mini
ng

Fina
nc

e, 
Ins

ura
nc

e

Enquiries by Whom

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Employers Workers Unions Parents Other*

2008/09 2007/08

2008/09 2007/08

2008/09 2007/08

2008/09 2007/08

Enquiries by Gender

44%

45%

46%

47%

48%

49%

50%

51%

52%

53%

54%

Male Female

Enquiries by Type

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Award

Dism
iss

al 
Te

rm
ina

tio
n

Prob
ati

on
 R

ed
un

da
nc

y

Disc
rim

ina
tio

n

Lo
ng

 S
erv

ice
 Le

av
e,

Ann
ua

l L
ea

ve
, P

ub
lic

 H
oli

da
ys

Mate
rni

ty 
& P

are
nta

l L
ea

ve

Work
ers

 C
om

pe
ns

ati
on

Occ
up

ati
on

al 
Hea

lth
 &

 S
afe

ty

Pers
on

ne
l M

an
ag

em
en

t

Work
pla

ce
 Agre

em
en

ts 
/

Con
tac

t C
on

dit
ion

s

Tre
atm

en
t a

t W
ork

Wag
es

Othe
r –

 C
on

flic
t R

es
olu

tio
n

Bus
ine

ss
/ H

R m
an

ag
em

en
t P

oli
cy

Enquiries by Industry

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Agri
cu

ltu
re,

Fore
str

y, 
Fish

ing

Com
mun

ica
tio

n S
erv

ice
s

Con
str

uc
tio

n

Edu
ca

tio
n

Hote
l A

cc
om

mod
ati

on

Elec
tric

ity,
 G

as
, W

ate
r

Hea
lth

, Com
mun

ity

Lo
ca

l C
ou

nc
il

Man
ufa

ctu
rin

g

Mec
ha

nic
al,

 E
lec

tric
al

Not 
Stat

ed

Prop
ert

y &
 B

us
ine

ss

Pers
on

al 
&

Othe
r S

erv
ice

s

NTG &
 APS

Reta
il

Tra
ns

po
rt

W
ho

les
ale

 Tr
ad

e

To
uri

sm
, C

ult
ura

l &
 R

ec
rea

tio
na

l

Mini
ng

Fina
nc

e, 
Ins

ura
nc

e



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2008-09

52

Overview
The Central Australian office consists of a 
Central Australian Senior Consultant who 
represents the Commissioner and all of 
OCPE’s business units in the southern region.

Agency-wide Representation
The Central Australian Senior Consultant 
undertakes the following activities:

• assists in the implementation of 
Government policy initiatives

• provides briefings on new initiatives, 
policies, etc

• provides enterprise bargaining briefings

• discusses various HR/ER/IR issues

• is the OCPE representative on the Barkly 
Regional Co-ordination Committee, the 
Alice Springs Executive Co-ordination 
Committee and the Alice Springs Regional 
Co-ordination Committee

• is the Chair of the Strategic Workforce 
Issues Action Group (ie Regional HR 
Manager’s Group)

• manages the Alice Springs office and

• represents the OCPE on various other 
committees and networks.

Employee Relations
• Employee Relations advice to both 

managers and employees, including those 
in remote localities.

• Labour Inspectorate, which is administering 
the Northern Territory’s private sector Long 
Service Leave Act, Annual Leave Act and 
Public Holidays Act.

• Participation on JES evaluation panels as 
the OCPE representative.

• Representation of the OCPE on reviews 
of work content statements (ie Physical 
grades) against the relevant Award 
definitions.

• Working with agencies to resolve employee 
disagreements.

Strategic Workforce Planning  
and Development
• Promotion of SWP&D policies and initiatives 

in the region, especially the remote 
workforce grants and scholarship funding 
under the Remote Workforce Development 
Strategy.

• This was the second year the Discovery 
- Women as Leaders Program was 
conducted in Alice Springs.  Twenty-two 
participants completed the program, six 
from remote localities.

• Career Mapping has been successful in 
Alice Springs, sessions were conducted in 
August and October 2008 and April 2009 
(as part of National Youth Week).

Outputs 1-3 –  
OCPE Central Australia

Staffing: 1
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Performance Reporting

• Promotion of the Public Sector Management 
Program for Alice Springs for 2009, the last 
intake was in 2004.

• Participation in the Barkly and Alice Springs 
Careers Expos.

Promotion Appeals and  
Grievance Reviews
• Provision of advice and assistance to 

managers and employees.

Priorities for 2009–10
• Focus on regional centre and remote  

visits, including promoting initiatives and 
policies, such as the NTPS Indigenous 
Employment and Career Development 
Strategy 2009-2012.

• Continue work to identify specific  
regional and remote workforce issues  
that need addressing.
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Overview
The OCPE governance framework aims 
to ensure the efficient use of resources, 
compliance with statutory and other external 
requirements, and sound administrative and 
financial management practice.

OCPE’s governance framework covers the 
set of responsibilities and practices, policies 
and procedures exercised to provide strategic 
direction, ensure objectives are achieved, 
manage risks and use resources responsibly 
and with accountability.

It is about both performance and 
conformance, and also encompasses the 
important role of leadership in ensuring that 
sound governance practices are applied within 
OCPE and across the NTPS. 

Primary responsibility for the governance of 
the OCPE rests with the OCPE Executive 
Management Team.

Key activities during 2008-09 included the 
development of the OCPE Governance Policy 
and Framework, preparation of a three year 
strategic audit plan, and monitoring actions 
resulting from a strategic risk assessment.

Corporate Services
Under a shared services arrangement,  
the Department of the Chief Minister  
(DCM) provides the full range of corporate 
services to the OCPE on a fee-for-service 
basis, including:

• human resources

• financial management

• procurement services

• information technology

• travel

• office services

• records and information management

• communications and

• corporate governance.

The DCM Executive Director of Corporate 
Services is a member of the OCPE Executive 
Management Team and represents the 
Commissioner for Public Employment on 
inter-agency coordination and corporate 
governance forums.  The DCM Chief Finance 
Officer also attends OCPE Executive 
Management Team meetings.

Governance Framework
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The OCPE consists of six business units 
(as shown below) that deliver outputs as 
contained in NT Budget Paper No.3. 

The diagram shows the high-level 
management and operational structure as at 
30 June 2009.

• Strategic public 
and private sector 
industrial relations

• Strategic HR policy 
and advice

• NT employment 
framework

• Executive contract 
of employment 
arrangements

• Administration for 
Commissioner’s 
statutory powers

• Central management 
of redeployment and 
redundancy

• Job evaluation policy 
and training

• International Labour 
Organisation

• Workforce statistics 
and analysis

• Prison Officers and 
Police Tribunal 
secretariat

•  Leadership 
development 
programs

• Human resource 
development, 
policy and advice

• Capability and 
succession 
planning

• Indigenous 
Employment 
and Career 
Development 
Strategy

• Research

• Whole of industry 
workforce policy 
coordination

• Equity and 
diversity

• Promotion, 
disciplinary 
and inability 
appeals

• Section 59 
grievance 
reviews

• Discipline/ 
Inability

• Secretariat 
function for 
Disciplinary and 
Inability Appeal 
Boards

• Advice to 
private sector 
employers and 
employees

• Labour 
inspectorate

(Note:  
This function 
ceased on  
30 June 2009)

• Strategic HR 
advice

• Regional 
redeployment 
and redundancy 
function

• Promotion 
appeals and 
grievance 
reviews

• Labour 
inspectorate

• Assist in 
implementing 
government 
policies

• Industrial 
relations

• Public sector 
employment

• Whole of 
industry 
workforce policy 
coordination

• Human resource 
services

• Financial 
and budget 
management

• Procurement

• Office services

• Travel

• Records and 
information 
management

• Information 
technology

• Communications 
and marketing

Commissioner for Public Employment 
Ken Simpson

Director Employee 
Relations 
Brian Mappas

Budget Output 1

Director SWP&D 
Danielle Cross

Budget Output 2

Director PA&GR 
Terry Lisson

Budget Output 3

Workplace Advocate 
Theo Tsikouris

Budget Output 4

Senior Consultant 
Central Australia 
Erika Sauzier

Budget Outputs 1-3

Executive Director 
Corporate Services 
Shaun Hardy 

Organisational Structure

Budget Inputs
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The Executive Management Team’s 
purpose is to ensure the highest standards 
of integrity, ethical behaviour, transparency 
and accountability. The team has a critical 
role in ensuring effective performance and 
accountability by:

• ensuring the OCPE has clearly established 
goals and objectives

• ensuring strategies for achieving those 
goals and objectives were appropriate and 
understood by management and staff and

• monitoring quality control systems and, 
where necessary, implementing corrective 
action to improve systems and performance.

Executive Management Team decisions are 
conveyed to staff at staff meetings, which are 
conducted at whole of office and business unit 
levels. 

Circulation of Minutes and Reports
Executive Management Team supports 
the dissemination of minutes and notes 
throughout the OCPE for the information of 
staff. Minutes of the Executive Management 
Team meetings and Coordination Committee 
reports are posted on the OCPE intranet and 
are accessible to all staff.

Executive Management Team

Purpose

Back Row: Erika Sauzier, Theo Tsikouris, Brian Mappas 
Front Row: Shaun Hardy, Terry Lisson, Ken Simpson, Danielle Cross
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Ken Simpson
Commissioner for Public Employment

Ken has been Commissioner since  
1 July 2006. He has had broad policy and 
operational experience in Northern Territory 
Government agencies since arriving in 
Darwin in 1976. He has held senior positions 
in the Department of the Chief Minister 
(Deputy Chief Executive), Department of 
Employment, Education and Training (Deputy 
Chief Executive and Acting Chief Executive), 
Department of Corporate and Information 
Services (Deputy Chief Executive), 
Department of Health (Assistant Secretary) 
and the then Department of Transport and 
Works (Director). He has also acted as the 
NT’s Auditor-General. He holds a Bachelor 
of Commerce Degree (Queensland) and a 
Graduate Diploma in Executive Public Service 
Management (Charles Darwin University).

Brian Mappas
Director Employee Relations

Brian joined the OCPE in 1996 following 
more than 10 years experience in employee 
relations in the Department of Employment, 
Education and Training.  Other NT 
Departments Brian has worked for include 
Treasury, Community Services and Primary 
Industries and Fisheries.  He has extensive 
senior experience in industrial relations 
and human resource management and 
holds a Bachelor of Business (majoring in 
management) and an Associate Degree in 
Legal Studies.

Danielle Cross
Director Strategic Workforce Planning  
and Development

Danielle has held this position since December 
2006. She has wide public sector experience, 
particularly in training, development, and 
change management. She has worked in the 
Department of the Chief Minister; Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning and Environment; 
Department of Employment, Education and 
Training; and Department of Corporate and 
Information Services. She holds a Bachelor 
of Education, Diploma of Education (Adult 
Education) and a Graduate Certificate in Public 
Sector Leadership.

Terry Lisson
Director Promotion Appeals  
& Grievance Reviews

Terry joined the OCPE in January 2008, 
coming from the position of Director of 
Conciliation, Policy and Law at the  
NT Anti- Discrimination Commission, where 
she had worked for the previous six years. 
She holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours 
Psychology) degree and a Bachelor of Laws 
and, in addition to many years working as a 
practising lawyer, has extensive training and 
experience in complaint handling, conflict 
resolution, conciliation and mediation.

Membership
Executive Management Team members at 30 June 2009 were:



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2008-09

60

Theo Tsikouris
Workplace Advocate

Theo joined the OCPE in 1989 after five 
years with the Northern Territory Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry, specialising 
in industrial relations matters. He was the 
Director of Employee Relations from 1997 
to 2005, representing the OCPE and the 
NTPS in most major matters before the 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission 
and local tribunals. Theo also acted as the 
Commissioner for Public Employment on 
numerous occasions. In January 2006 Theo 
was appointed as the Registrar for the NT 
Build Portable Long Service Leave Scheme. 
In December 2006 Theo was appointed to the 
Police Arbitral Tribunal, for three years, as the 
Minister for Public Employment’s nominee. In 
August 2007 Theo was also appointed as the 
Northern Territory Workplace Advocate, a role 
he continued to concurrently fulfil with that of 
NT Build.

Erika Sauzier
Senior Consultant Central Australia

Erika has been with the OCPE for ten years. 
She joined the NTPS in 1985, working her 
way up from a management cadet to her 
current position. She has held a range 
of positions in the personnel and human 
resources field during her career. She holds 
an Associate Diploma in Public Administration 
and is undertaking study towards a Bachelor 
of Psychology (Charles Sturt University).

Shaun Hardy
Executive Director Corporate Services

Shaun joined the Department of the  
Chief Minister in 2008 following a short term 
with the Power and Water Corporation.   
He has worked in the Australian Public  
Sector for twenty years including 
management roles in governance and 
program management in the Department of 
Parliamentary Services and the Australian 
Bureau of Statistics.  He holds a Master of 
Public Administration and a Graduate Diploma 
in Human Resource Management.

Co-location of  
Northern Territory Workplace 
Advocate and NT Build
Through a shared cost arrangement agreed 
between the Commissioner and the NT Build 
Board, Theo Tsikouris was appointed as 
the Northern Territory Workplace Advocate 
in August 2007, a role he continued to 
concurrently fulfil with that of the NT Build 
Registrar. This resulted in the NTWA function 
being physically located in the NT Build office, 
providing a shopfront readily accessible to 
private sector workers and located in Charlton 
Court, Woolner.

Community Engagement
As a central agency, the OCPE develops 
frameworks to support the government’s 
social and economic policies and seeks  
the views of public sector employees  
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and other stakeholders as part of the 
development process. In June 2005, the 
OCPE developed its Community Engagement 
Framework. The OCPE community includes 
all employees of the NTPS and their 
representatives. OCPE may also engage 
with a range of other stakeholders, including 
unions, tertiary institutions, community 
organisations and Northern Territory 
businesses and their employees.

Audit and Risk  
Management Committee
The OCPE Audit and Risk Management 
Committee was established in 2008-09 and 
meets on a quarterly basis.  The Committee 
comprises a subset of the OCPE Executive 
Management Team members, includes an 
external representative and reports to the 
Commissioner for Public Employment.

The functions and responsibilities of the 
Committee are to:

• monitor the adequacy of the OCPE’s 
internal control environment including risk 
management and related policies, practices 
and procedures

• oversee the internal audit functions, liaise 
with external auditors and monitor the 
implementation of internal and external 
audit recommendations and

• undertake any other functions and activities 
that the committee considers relevant to its 
primary objective.

Key activities during 2008-09 included the 
development of the OCPE Governance Policy 
and Framework, preparation of a three year 
strategic audit plan and monitoring actions in 
response to a strategic risk assessment.

Occupational Health  
and Safety Committee
In accordance with the Workplace Health 
and Safety Act, the Commissioner for 
Public Employment met with and consulted 
employees about the establishment of a  
work group.

This consultation resulted in the preparation of 
a formal agreement that set out the workgroup 
structure of the OCPE. The agreement has 
been disseminated to all OCPE employees.

The agreement formalises matters such as:

• definitions

• terms of the agreement

• health and safety representatives

• health and safety committee and 

• dispute settlement.

The OCPE OH&S Committee meets quarterly, 
and in 2008-09 the Committee continued to 
represent staff and management in the area  
of OH&S.
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Information Management 
Committee
The OCPE is represented on the DCM 
Information Management Committee, which 
meets quarterly and considers information 
management issues impacting on both the 
OCPE and DCM. The OCPE operates within 
the standard Northern Territory Government 
information technology environment, including 
outsourced services for desktop, messaging, 
telecommunications and mainframe 
applications.

The functions and responsibilities of the 
Committee include:

• ensuring the effectiveness of information 
and communications technology systems

• overseeing better practice information and 
records management and

• developing improved knowledge 
management practices.

Key activities during 2008-09 included 
the development of an Information and 
Communications Technology Strategic  
Plan, refinement of policies and  
procedures and preparations for the 
implementation of electronic document  
and records management.

Sustainability
The OCPE continued the following initiatives 
to reduce its energy consumption:

• maintaining an office equipment 
replacement program using multifunctional 
devices and power saving functions

• encouraging vehicle selections with lower 
greenhouse gas emissions

• participating in Earth Hour and

• encouraging staff to be more conscious 
about energy consumption.

Improving Communication 
within the OCPE
Effective internal communication is important 
to the OCPE. Listed below are some initiatives 
that enhance communication.

Business Unit Meetings
Business Unit Directors held regular meetings 
to provide information and receive feedback 
on OCPE issues as well as meetings on 
specific issues as the need arose.

Executive Information  
Coordinators’ Group
The Executive Information Coordinators’ 
Group, made up of Personal and Executive 
Assistants from each business unit in OCPE 
and DCM, plays a role in ensuring business 
units have access to appropriate information, 
streamlining procedures and identifying areas 
for improvement and action.
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OCPE Corporate Matters Newsletter
A “Corporate Matters Newsletter” was  
initiated in the 2008-09 financial year.  
Employees regularly received updated 
information via the Newsletter, providing 
information in relation to employment 
provisions, current policies, worklife balance, 
corporate processes and systems, financial 
services and relevant contacts.

Sharing Information
The OCPE has a strong corporate 
commitment to sharing information and staff 
are encouraged to adopt this collaborative 
approach to work.  Executive Management 
Team supports the dissemination of minutes 
and notes throughout the OCPE for the 
information of staff. Executive Management 
Team minutes and Coordination Committee 
reports are posted on the Intranet.

Boards and Committees
In support of its core business, the OCPE  
is represented on many national and  
Northern Territory boards and committees.  
A full list is provided in the Appendices,  
page 115.

A new Audit Committee, which includes 
external representation, was established 
during 2008-09.

Improving Communication with 
Clients and Stakeholders
Effective external communication is vital to 
the OCPE.  Following are the key methods of 
external communication maintained.

Human Resources (HR) Forum
The OCPE hosts a HR Forum on a regular 
basis for HR and non-HR practitioners to gain 
a better understanding of current issues and 
initiatives.  HR Forums cover a range of topics 
presented by the OCPE, NTPS agencies and 
external stakeholders.

Internet and Intranet
The OCPE Internet and Intranet sites provide 
timely and relevant information across the 
NTPS and to broader stakeholders. The sites 
are user friendly providing ready access to the 
latest updates, news and features and links to 
programs, policies and legislation.

Annual Insurance  
Reporting Requirements
On 4 November 2008 the Treasurer issued 
a new Treasurer’s Direction for insurance 
arrangements as part of the Insurable  
Risk Framework.  Under this new Direction 
(R2.1 – Insurance Arrangements), the 
OCPE is required to report insurance related 
information in its Annual Report.  As the 
Direction was issued in November 2008,  
the OCPE did not have adequate processes 
in place to capture relevant information for the 
full year.  These processes are now in place.  
As part of its risk mitigation strategy the  
OCPE has developed a strategic risk 
assessment based on its strategic goals, 
this is reviewed by the OCPE’s Executive 
Management Team regularly.



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2008-09

64

Commercial Insurance Premiums
No commercial premiums were paid, thus 
there were no claims made.

Office Services and Travel

Asset Management
A full stocktake of physical assets over $5,000 
was conducted during the year in both the 
Darwin and Alice Springs offices.   

A subsequent reconciliation against the Fixed 
Asset Register found no discrepancies to  
be investigated.

A Portable and Attractive Assets policy, which 
identifies items under $5,000 to be submitted 
to DBE for accounting purposes, has been 
drafted for approval by the Commissioner for 
Public Employment.

Official Travel
A compliance audit conducted by the  
Auditor-General found that travel processes 

The OCPE is able to provide the following 
information for the financial year ended  
30 June 2009.

Self Insurance Claims

Table 7 – Motor Vehicle Claims

2007-08 2008-09
Claims as at 30 June* 0 1
Value of Claims $0.00 $1 482
Average Claim $0.00 $1 482

*All Motor Vehicle claims relate to accident repairs for NT Fleet Vehicles.

Table 8 – Worker’s Compensation Claims

2007-08 2008-09
Claims as at 1 July 0 1
New claims 1 0
Claims resolved 0 0
Claims as at 30 June 1 1
Cost of new claims $2215.15 $0.00
Current financial year costs $2302.13 $13167.23
Average new claim costs $2215.15 $0.00
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in place at OCPE are in need of improvement.  
Accordingly, travel processes and procedures 
are being reviewed and strengthened to 
ensure compliance with the Treasurer’s 
Directions and internal guidelines.

Information Management

Information Technology
OCPE operates within the standard  
Northern Territory Government information 
technology environment subscribing  
to outsourced services for desktop, 
messaging, telecommunications and 
mainframe applications.

In support of OCPE, the DCM Corporate 
Services Division has:

• managed the transformation project which 
has included the migration to Microsoft 
exchange (Outlook) as the preferred whole 
of government messaging system, the new 
Northern Territory Government Standard 
Operating Environment and implementation 
of the Distributed File System

• reviewed the OCPE Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) Strategic 
Plan for approval by the Commissioner for 
Public Employment

• reviewed the OCPE ICT Policy by 
consolidating several individual policies 
including ICT hardware, software, 
templates, emails, and records for  
approval by the Commissioner for  
Public Employment

• reviewed and commenced updated access 
and security groups to and for OCPE 
business drives

• established a policy confirming 
arrangements that ensure optimum  
security in relation to business drives,  
Tower Records Information Management 
(TRIM), vehicles, equipment and agency 
premises following staff cessation for 
approval by the Commissioner

• conducted an ICT stocktake of IT devices 
and mobile phones and

• reviewed the process for the management 
and payment of corporate accounts, 
particularly relating to ICT devices and 
services, and operational efficiencies were 
enhanced by ensuring in depth checking of 
charges against stocktakes and users.

Information Act
The Northern Territory of Australia Information 
Act affects the way NTPS organisations 
collect, use and store government and 
personal information as it brings together 
the related issues of freedom of information, 
privacy, and records and archives 
management. In most cases, employees 
can obtain their own employment related 
information held by the OCPE more quickly 
under PSEMA, rather than applying for access 
under the Information Act. More information 
is available at www.ocpe.nt.gov.au/foi. The 
policies and procedures have been designed 
to assist people in accessing information and 
to request corrections to personal information.
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Staff awareness of the provisions of the 
Information Act has been raised through an 
information session on the provisions of the 
Information Act, provided by the Information 
Commissioner to Executive Management 
Team members and information published in 
the OCPE Corporate Matters newsletter.

In addition, training for all staff is being 
arranged for August 2009, to be provided by 
Information Consultants Pty Ltd.

Applications under the  
Information Act
In 2008–09 the OCPE received no  
information access requests, as shown  
in the following table:

Table 9 – Applications under the Information Act

Applications under the Information Act 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008-09
Open applications carried forward from previous year 1 0 0 0
Requests to access government information 3 1 1 0
Requests to access personal information 0 1 5 0
Requests to access government/personal information 0 0 1 0
Requests withdrawn 0 0 0 0
Requests transferred in full 0 1 0 0
Requests completed within 30 days 0 0 3 0
Requests taking more than 30 days to complete 4 1 4 0
Open applications at end of year 0 0 0 0

One complaint, related to requests for 
information submitted by an applicant  
several years ago, remains outstanding with  
the Office of the Information Commissioner.

Privacy
The Information Act establishes 10 
Information Privacy Principles to govern  
the collection, use, storage and management 
of personal information by Northern Territory 
Government agencies.

There were no privacy breaches reported  
in 2008-09.

Records Management
The Information Act requires NTPS agencies 
to manage records in compliance with the 
Northern Territory Government records 
management standards. OCPE continues to 
work towards full compliance and undertook 
improvements to records management practices 
and a TRIM training program during 2008-09.

Internal and external reviews of current records 
management practices indicated inconsistent 
practices in file titling and records disposal.  
This is being addressed by monitoring all new 
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file requests regarding thesaurus and free 
text titling and security classifications, and 
by raising awareness through the Records 
Management training program.

The proposed upgrade to TRIM 6.2 in 2008-09 
has been postponed to 2009-10 in line with 
the DBE implementation timetable across the 
Northern Territory Government.

Preparations commenced for a proposed 
implementation of Electronic Document 
Records Management.  The implementation 
timetable is to be determined.

Priorities for 2009-10
• An electrical test and tag program  

to be arranged to test the safety of  
OCPE appliances.

• Implement the new Standard  
Operating Environment.

• Convert to version 6.2 of TRIM.

• Initiate Sharepoint facilities.

• Review and update the OCPE Intranet site.

• Manage and monitor the new outsourcing 
model that DBE have created for the next 
round of ICT Contracts.
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Overview
The OCPE is fortunate to employ a committed, 
professional and diverse staff group, and 
remains devoted to the founding and 
upholding of best practice human resources 
management, embracing innovation, strategy 
and respect. Staff receive opportunities to 
work within a flexible environment, maintain 
work-life balance, undertake learning 
and developmental needs, and positively 
contribute to the OCPE’s growth.

The OCPE is responsible for providing an 
efficient, successful employment framework 
for management of the entire NTPS. In 
accomplishing this, the OCPE remains 
committed to providing high quality human 
resource management within the OCPE and 
sector wide.

The Human Resources Unit is responsible 
for all employee affairs such as learning and 
development, providing advice on employment 
conditions, early intervention, and recruitment 
and advertising of positions. Human 
Resources act in accordance with the OCPE 
2008-2011 Strategic Plan.

During the reporting period a “Welcome Pack” 
was drafted for new employees in order to 
improve the efficiency of the commencement 
process with a view to being implemented in 
the 2009-10 year. Additionally, feedback forms 
for exiting employees has been implemented, 
facilitating awareness on trends of existing 
employees from the OCPE.

In order to maintain compliance with 
Employment Instructions several corporate 
policies were reviewed by HR, endorsed by 
the Commissioner and made available to 
OCPE employees via the staff intranet during 
the reporting period. The following policy 
statements were revised:

• Meal and Temperate Clothing Allowances

• Special Leave Without Pay

• Probation

• Overtime/Time off in Lieu

• Access to employee records and

• Higher Duties Allowance.

Workforce Management
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Demographics
At 30 June 2009 the OCPE employed 33.75 
full-time equivalent employees. This compared 
with 36.55 on 30 June 2008.

Graph 13 – Snapshot at 30 June 2009

Graph 14 – Position Allocations across OCPE
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Graph 15 – Gender by Classification

Graph 16 – Staffing by Classification
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Recruitment
In 2008–09, nine employees commenced with 
OCPE and eight employees separated.

Graph 17 shows in 2008-09, nine employees 
commenced with OCPE, of these eight were 

temporary employees and one casual, 
three were male and six female, with seven 
employees working full-time and two part-time.

Graph 18 shows in 2008-09, eight employees 
seperated, of those six employees were 

temporary and two permanent, with seven 
employees being full-time and one part-time.

Graph 17 – Staffing Profile of New Commencements

Graph 18 – Staffing Profile of Separations
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Equity and Diversity
The OCPE is committed to providing 
employees with a safe and healthy workplace 
free from bullying and one that promotes 
respect, professionalism and integrity.

Cross cultural awareness sessions were held 
with over 75% of OCPE employees attending.

The OCPE continues to support the 
Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy, which aims to 
increase recruitment and retention of 

Indigenous employees within the NTPS, with 
the sponsorship of a National Indigenous 
Cadetship Project student.

OCPE recognises that employees with 
disabilities may have special requirements 
and incorporates flexible practices in its 
recruitment and workplace arrangements to 
ensure equity and diversity in the workforce.  

Graph 19 – Staff Equity and Diversity TrendStaff Equity and Diversity Trend
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Flexible Working Arrangements
The OCPE strongly promotes work life 
balance as part of its corporate culture and 
has supported a number of family friendly and 
flexible working arrangements to help achieve 
this balance. 

Flexible working arrangements have included 
supporting employees who requested a move 
from full-time to part-time work and exploring 
possible job share options. During the reporting 
period four employees have been employed on 
part-time arrangements.

The OCPE continued a secondment of a 
Victorian Department of Innovation, Industry 
and Regional Development staff member 
during the year who assisted in Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreement negotiations.

Learning and Development

Induction Program
The induction program covers all aspects of 
employment conditions, the functioning and 
purpose of the OCPE, and internal policies 
and procedures.  Sessions are held as 
required by the Human Resources Unit.

Early Career and Employment 
Development Programs
As part of OCPE’s recruitment and retention 
strategy, it participates in Early Career 
Programs such as the NTPS Apprenticeship 
Program and the National Indigenous 
Cadetship Project.

National Indigenous  
Cadetship Project
In committing to increase the number of 
Indigenous employees in the wider NTPS,  
the OCPE maintains its sponsorship of a 
female National Indigenous Cadet. The 
current cadet is studying a Bachelor of Arts 
at the University of Melbourne. She will be 
supported until her graduation in 2010.

NTPS Apprenticeship Program
OCPE continues to support the  
NTPS Apprenticeship Program which 
cultivates the skills of a new generation  
of employees who will help shape the social 
and economic future of the Northern Territory. 
Apprentices are employed full time with 
the OCPE whilst completing a Certificate 
III in Business and are given a wealth of 
experience by securing placements in a 
variety of work units. During the reporting 
period two apprentices were placed in 
the Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development, and Employee Relations Units.

Staff Training and Development
In 2008-09 there were approximately  
19 employees who undertook training.  
The OCPE’s expenditure on training  
activities for 2008-09, including study 
assistance, was $42,000.

Training and study activities consisted of  
the following categories:

• Leadership Development
 ◦ Team Management Profiling and
 ◦ Managing Hard, Soft and  

Complex Projects
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• Strategic and Contemporary  
Human Resources
 ◦ Job Analysis Questionnaire/Job 

Evaluation System training
 ◦ Community and Public Sector Union 

delegate training and
 ◦ Selection panel training

• Financial Training
 ◦ Procure Goods and Services

• Occupational Health and Safety
 ◦ Fire Warden Training

• Information Technology
 ◦ Microsoft Word, Excel and  

Power Point courses and
 ◦ TRIM training.

Study Assistance
Employees are encouraged to apply for study 
assistance, which includes full or partial 
reimbursement of completed units depending 
on desirability, and paid leave to attend 
lectures and final examinations.

The OCPE supported three employees with 
study assistance during the reporting period, 
in the following areas:

• Bachelor of Psychology

• Bachelor of Social Science and

• Certificate IV in Business  
– Human Resources 

Performance Management

Performance Enhancement  
and Development
Human Resources released a training 
calendar offering various development 
opportunities to OCPE personnel, including 
Microsoft Office courses, selection panel 
training and Job Analysis Questionnaire/
Job Evaluation System programmes. The 
OCPE continues to facilitate development 
opportunities through higher duties and 
placements in other business units or 
agencies to broaden employees’ experience.

Reviews and Inability  
or Discipline Appeals
In this financial year no grievances or appeals 
were lodged under PSEMA.

Early Intervention
The OCPE utilises the Early Intervention 
program with ergonomic workstation 
assessments being undertaken for 
employees.

11 staff participated in the flu  
vaccination program.

Employee Assistance Program
OCPE utilised the Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP) in 2008–09.

Twelve staff used the services of EAP 
contractors. They included self-referrals, 
referrals by supervisors or managers,  
co-worker and family members.
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Reported Incidents
There was one incident reported in 2008-09, 
from the Incident Report it was reported as an 
allergic reaction.

Graph 20 – Incident Reports Number of Accidents/Incidents
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Staff Achievements
• Wayne Dillon completed a Diploma in 

Business (Human Resources).

• A number of staff succeeded in achieving 
temporary promotional placements in other 
agencies, demonstrating the high level of 
confidence in OCPE employees.

National Youth Week
Human Resources facilitated an event for 
National Youth Week 2009, the largest 
celebration of young people in Australia. A 
lawn bowls competition between over and 

under 25 year old staff from the OCPE and 
the DCM was held in April. Friendly rivalry 
between teams and high staff turnout made 
for a well received, successful social event.

NTPS Golf Day
The OCPE facilitates an annual NTPS Golf 
Day and encourages all government agencies 
to participate, with proceeds going to Camp 
Quality. The 2008-09 NTPS golf day was the 
most successful to date, with over $10 000 
being raised for the charity.
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Overview
The 2008-09 Financial Statements and 
notes for the Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment have been prepared on 
an accrual basis and are consistent with the 
adoption of the Australian equivalent to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The Statements provide information 
on the operating statement, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity and cash flow 
statement of the agency for the financial year 
ended the 30 June 2009.

Operating Statement
The Operating Statement provides information 
on the financial performance of the Agency 
during the year. The surplus or deficit for the 
year is calculated by subtracting the expense 
items from the revenue items.

Surplus
For the year ended 30 June 2009, the 
OCPE recorded a surplus of $142,000. The 
estimated budgeted deficit at the beginning 
of the year was $12,000. This was later 
revised for the 2009-10 budget publication 
and increased by $15,000 to $27,000. The 
surplus is due to a combination of over and 
under estimated values for both revenue and 
expenditure items.

The table below shows the OCPE financial 
performance for the past three years:

Financial Statement Overview

Table 10 – Financial Performance

2006-2007 
($’000)

2007-2008 
($’000)

2008-2009 
($’000)

Revenue 8,240 7,939 7,413
Expenses 7,965 7,324 7,271
Surplus 275 615 142



81

Financial Reporting

Revenue
The Agency was funded primarily through 
Northern Territory Parliamentary appropriation 
($6.18 million). Other revenue is derived via 
the sale of goods and services ($664,000). 
The agency also recognises notional revenue 
for services received free of charge through 
the Department of Business and Employment 
such as Information Technology, Procurement 
and Payroll services. This revenue is off-set 
by notional expenditure to the same value.

Total revenue decreased by $526,000 
compared to the previous financial year. The 
majority of the decrease was in goods and 
services revenue ($551,000) and was due to 
the transfer of responsibility for the NT Build 
program to the Northern Territory Treasury 
from 9 February 2009. In accordance with 
Section 21 of the Financial Management Act 
this transfer was back dated to 1 July 2008.

Output 
Revenue
$6,180

Goods & 
Services 
Revenue
$664

Goods and services 
received free of charge

$550
Miscellaneous Income
$19

Graph 21 – 2008-09 Operating Revenue $'000
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Expenses
Agency expenses are recognised in 3 primary 
categories; employee, administrative and 
grants.  In 2008-09 51% of expenditure was 
related to employees, 36% to administrative 
and the balance (13%) to grants.

Employee Expenditure
Personnel expenditure decreased from the 
2007-08 year by $75,000 from the previous 
year, this was due to a number of staff moving 
from full time to part time employment. The 
decrease has been offset by an increase of 
4% in salary rates for employees engaged 
under the Northern Territory Public Sector 
Enterprise Bargaining Agreement.

Administrative Expenses
Goods and services expenses have 
decreased in comparison to the 2007-08 year 

(by $283,000). The decrease is mainly due  
to payments to other Northern Territory 
agencies for the Remote Workforce 
Development Program being re-classified as 
grant payments during the 2009 year. 

Other administrative expenses are primarily 
notional charges for services received free  
of charge from the Department of Business 
and Employment.

Grants Expense
The grant expense has increased by  
$417,000 in the current year from $599,000 to 
$1.02 million. As noted above, this is largely 
due to some Remote Workforce Development 
Program expenditure previously classified as 
goods and services now being allocated to the 
grants classification. 

Graph 22 – 2007-09 Administrative Expenditure 
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Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet provides a summary of 
the agency’s total assets (what it owns or 
controls) and its liabilities (what it owes).  
The subtraction of liabilities from assets 
results in a balance that is the agency’s net 
worth (or equity).

Assets
During the 2008-09 year the agency’s  
total assets increased from $939,000  
to $1.38 million. The majority of the 

increase is due to an increase in the cash  
at bank, from $668,000 to $1.19 million.  
The increase is partially offset by decreases 
in Receivables ($56,000) and Property, Plant 
and Equipment ($23,000).

Liabilities
Liabilities have increased by $132,000, the 
majority this was in payables ($170,000) 
which is offset by a decrease of $45,000 in 
unearned revenue. 

2006-2007 
($’000)

2007-2008 
($’000)

2008-2009 
($’000)

Assets 328 939 1,382
Liabilities (942) (819) (951)
Equity (613) (120) (432)

2006-2007 
($’000)

2007-2008 
($’000)

2008-2009 
($’000)

Cash at beginning of Year (198) 173 668
Net Movement 371 494 522
Cash at End of Year 173 668 1,190

Statement of Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity  
reports on movements in equity balances 
during the year.

Equity increased by $312,000, from $120,000 
in 2007-08 to $432,000 in 2008-09. This is 
due to equity injections of $169,000 and the 
operating surplus of $142,000.

Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement reports on total 
cash payments and receipts made during the 
financial year. 

Overall the Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment increased its cash held 
by $522,000 from the previous financial year 
to $1.19 million. The increase is attributable 
to operating receipts being greater than 
operating payments ($361,000) and an equity 
injection resulting from the transfer of NT Build 
to the Northern Territory Treasury ($161,000).

Table 11 – Balance Sheet

Table 12 – Cash Flows
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We certify that the attached financial statements for the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment have been prepared from proper accounts and records in accordance with the 
prescribed format, the Financial Management Act and Treasurer’s Directions.

We further state that the information set out in the Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes to and forming part of the 
financial statements, presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year 
ended 30 June 2009 and the financial position on that date.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Certification of the 
Financial Statements

……………………………….

KARL DYASON
Chief Finance Officer

31 August 2009

………………………………….

KEN SIMPSON 
Commissioner for Public Employment

31 August 2009
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INCOME
Output Revenue 6,180 6 087
Sales of Goods and Services 664 1 215
Interest Revenue
Goods and Services Received Free of Charge 4 550 629
Other Income 19 8

TOTAL INCOME  3 7 413 7 939

EXPENSES  
Employee Expenses 3,681 3,756
Administrative Expenses

Purchases of Goods and Services 6 1,982 2,265
Repairs and Maintenance 14 6
Loss on Disposal of Assets 5 - 2
Depreciation and Amortisation 9 27 67
Other Administrative Expenses 550 629

Grants and Subsidies Expenses
Current 1,016 599
Capital

Interest Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES 3 7,271 7,324

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 13 142 615

Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
Operating Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2009

 NOTE 2009 2008

  $'000 $'000

The Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
Balance Sheet 
For the year ended 30 June 2009

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and Deposits 7 1,190 668
Receivables 8 99 155
Other Assets

Total Current Assets 1,289 822

Non-current Assets
Receivables
Advances and Investments
Property, Plant and Equipment 9 94 117

Total Non-current Assets 94 117

TOTAL ASSETS 1,382 939

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Deposits Held
Payables 10 (270) (100)
Provisions 11 (430) (428)
Other Liabilities 12 (45)

Total Current Liabilities (699) (573)

Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings and Advances
Provisions 11 (251) (246)

Total Non-current Liabilities (251) (246)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (951) (819)

NET ASSETS 432 120

EQUITY 13
Capital (5) 164
Reserves
Accumulated Funds (426) (284)

TOTAL EQUITY (432) (120)

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

 NOTE 2009 2008

  $'000 $'000
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Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2009

This Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

BALANCE OF EQUITY AT 1 JULY 13 120 (613)

Capital 13
Balance at 1 July (164) (282)

Equity Injections 169 118
Equity Withdrawals

Balance at 30 June 5 (164)

Accumulated Funds 13
Balance at 1 July 284 (331)
Changes in Accounting Policies 

Correction of Prior Period Errors 
Surplus/(Deficit) for the Period 142 615
Gains/(Losses) Recognised Directly in Equity - -

Balance at 30 June 426 284

BALANCE OF EQUITY AT 30 JUNE 432 120

Total Income and Expense Recognised Directly to Equity - -

 NOTE 2009 2008

  $'000 $'000
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Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

NOTE 2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

(Outflows)  
/ Inflows

(Outflows) 
/ Inflows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Receipts

Taxes Received
Grants and Subsidies Received

Current
Capital

Output Revenue Received 6,180 6,087
Receipts from Sales of Goods and Services 834 1,352
Interest Received

Total Operating Receipts 7,014 7,439
Operating Payments

Payments to Employees (3,669) (3,756)
Payments for Goods and Services (1,968) (2,589)
Grants and Subsidies Paid

Current (1,016) (599)
Capital

Total Operating Payments (6,653) (6,944)
Net Cash from/(Used in) Operating Activities 14 361 494

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing Receipts
Total Investing Receipts
Investing Payments
Total Investing Payments
Net Cash from/(Used in) Investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing Receipts

Other Equity Injection 161
Total Financing Receipts 161
Financing Payments
Total Financing Payments
Net Cash from/(Used in) Financing Activities 161

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held 522 494
Cash at Beginning of Financial Year 668 173

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 7 1,190 668

The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

1. Objectives and Funding

2.  Statement of Significant  
Accounting Policies 

3. Operating Statement by Output Group

INCOME

4.  Goods and Services Received  
Free of Charge

5. Loss on Disposal of Assets

EXPENSES

6. Purchases of Goods and Services

ASSETS

7. Cash and Deposits

8. Receivables

9. Property, Plant and Equipment

LIABILITIES

10. Payables

11. Provisions

12. Other Liabilities

EQUITY

13. Equity

OTHER DISCLOSURES

14. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

15. Financial Instruments

16. Commitments

17.  Contingent Liabilities and  
Contingent Assets

18. Events Subsequent to Balance Date

19. Write-offs, Postponements and Waivers

20. Schedule of Territory Items

Index of Notes to the Financial Statements
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1. Objectives and Funding
The Office of the Commissioner for  
Public Employment’s mission is to  
lead and coordinate the development  
of a skilled and strategically aligned 
workforce to achieve quality innovative 
Government services for the Northern 
Territory community.

This will be achieved through:

• Collaborating with the Northern 
Territory Public Sector Chief Executive 
Officers and Human Resource 
Managers to build a creative and 
innovative workforce, skilled to meet 
the needs of the future.

• Taking a leadership role in the 
identification of strategic shifts, trend 
and contemporary public sector 
workforce practice.

• Coordinating across agencies to  
ensure an integrated whole of 
government approach.

The Office is predominantly funded by 
parliamentary appropriation. The financial 
statements encompass all funds through 
which the agency controls resources to 
carry out its functions.

2. Statement of Significant  
 Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting
 The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Financial 
Management Act and related 
Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial 
Management Act requires the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
to prepare financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June based on the form 
determined by the Treasurer. The form of 
agency financial statements is to include:

(i) a Certification of the  
Financial Statements

(ii) an Operating Statement

(iii) a Balance Sheet

(iv) a Statement of Changes in Equity

(v) a Cash Flow Statement

(vi)  applicable explanatory notes to the 
financial statements. 

 The form of agency financial statements 
is consistent with the accrual budget 
format and the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards, including AASB 
101 and AASB 107.  The format also 
requires additional disclosures specific to 
Territory Government entities.

 The financial statements have been 
prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, which recognises the  
effect of financial transactions and events 
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when they occur, rather than when cash 
is paid out or received. As part of the 
preparation of the financial statements,  
all intra-agency transactions and 
balances have been eliminated.  

 Except where stated, the financial 
statements have also been prepared 
in accordance with the historical  
cost convention.

(b) Agency and Territory Items
The financial statements of the Officer of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
include income, expenses, assets, 
liabilities and equity over which the 
Officer of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment has control (Agency items). 
Certain items, while managed by the 
agency, are controlled and recorded 
by the Territory rather than the agency 
(Territory items). Territory items are 
recognised and recorded in the Central 
Holding Authority as discussed below.

Central Holding Authority
The Central Holding Authority is the 
‘parent body’ that represents the 
Government’s ownership interest in 
Government controlled entities.  

The Central Holding Authority also 
records all Territory items, such as 
income, expenses, assets and  
liabilities controlled by the Government 
and managed by Agencies on behalf  
of the Government. The main Territory 
item is Territory income, which 

includes taxation and royalty revenue, 
Commonwealth general purpose funding 
(such as GST revenue), fines, and 
statutory fees and charges.  

The Central Holding Authority also holds 
certain Territory assets not assigned to 
Agencies as well as certain Territory 
liabilities that are not practical or effective 
to assign to individual Agencies such 
as unfunded superannuation and long 
service leave.

The Central Holding Authority recognises 
and records all Territory items, and 
as such, these items are not included 
in the agency’s financial statements. 
However, as the agency is accountable 
for certain Territory items managed on 
behalf of Government, these items have 
been separately disclosed in note 20 - 
Schedule of Territory Items.

(c) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative 
information for the 2007-08 financial 
year has been reclassified to provide 
consistency with current year disclosures.

(d)  Presentation and Rounding  
of Amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and 
notes to the financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, with amounts of $500 or less 
being rounded down to zero.
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(e) Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no changes to 
accounting policies adopted in 2008-09 
as a result of management decisions. 

(f) Accounting Judgements  
 and Estimates 

The preparation of the financial report 
requires the making of judgements and 
estimates that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities.  The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of making the 
judgements about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates that have 
significant effects on the financial 
statements are disclosed in the relevant 
notes to the financial statements. Notes 
that include significant judgements and 
estimates are:

• Employee Benefits – Note 11: Non-
current liabilities in respect of employee 
benefits are measured as the present 
value of estimated future cash outflows 
based on the appropriate Government 
bond rate, estimates of future salary 
and wage levels and employee periods 
of service. 

• Depreciation and Amortisation – Note 9:
Property, Plant and Equipment.

(g) Goods and Services Tax
Income, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of  
Goods and Services Tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred on  
a purchase of goods and services is  
not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO). In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated  
with the amount of GST included. The  
net amount of GST recoverable from,  
or payable to, the ATO is included as  
part of receivables or payables in the 
Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash  
Flow Statement on a gross basis. 
The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows. Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed net of the 
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amount of GST recoverable or payable 
unless otherwise specified.

(h) Income Recognition
Income encompasses both revenue  
and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of 
the consideration received, exclusive of 
the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST). Exchanges of goods or services 
of the same nature and value without any 
cash consideration being exchanged are 
not recognised as income.

Output Revenue
Output revenue represents Government 
funding for agency operations and  
is calculated as the net cost of agency 
outputs after taking into account funding 
from agency income. The net cost of 
agency outputs for Output Appropriation 
purposes does not include any  
allowance for major non-cash costs such 
as depreciation.  

Revenue in respect of this funding is 
recognised in the period in which the 
agency gains control of the funds.

Grants and Other Contributions
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-
reciprocal contributions are recognised 
as revenue when the agency obtains 
control over the assets comprising 
the contributions.  Control is normally 
obtained upon receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their 
fair value. Contributions of services are 

only recognised when a fair value can 
be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated. 

Appropriation
Output Appropriation is the operating 
payment to each agency for the outputs 
they provide and is calculated as the net 
cost of agency outputs after taking into 
account funding from agency income. It 
does not include any allowance for major 
non-cash costs such as depreciation.  

Commonwealth appropriation is new 
to 2008-09, and follows from the 
Intergovernmental Agreement on  
Federal Financial Relations. It has 
resulted in Special Purpose Payments 
and National Partnership payments  
being made by the Commonwealth 
Treasury to state treasuries, in a  
manner similar to arrangements for  
GST payments. These payments are 
received by Treasury on behalf of the 
Central Holding Authority and then on 
passed to the relevant agencies as 
Commonwealth Appropriation.

Revenue in respect of Appropriations 
is recognised in the period in which the 
agency gains control of the funds.

Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is 
recognised (net of returns, discounts  
and allowances) when control of the 
goods passes to the customer and 
specified conditions associated with the 
sale have been satisfied.
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Rendering of Services
Revenue from rendering services 
is recognised on a stage of  
completion basis.

Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it 
accrues, taking into account the effective 
yield on the financial asset.

Goods and Services Received  
Free of Charge
Goods and services received free of 
charge are recognised as revenue when 
a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the resource would have been 
purchased if it had not been donated.  
Use of the resource is recognised as  
an expense.

Disposal of Assets
A gain or loss on disposal of assets  
is included as a gain or loss on the  
date control of the asset passes to the 
buyer, usually when an unconditional 
contract of sale is signed.  The gain or 
loss on disposal is calculated as the 
difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset at the time of disposal and 
the net proceeds on disposal. Refer also 
to note 5.

Contributions of Assets
Contributions of assets and contributions 
to assist in the acquisition of assets, 
being non-reciprocal transfers, are 
recognised, unless otherwise determined 
by Government, as gains when the 

agency obtains control of the asset or 
contribution. Contributions are recognised 
at the fair value received or receivable.

(i) Repairs and Maintenance Expenses
Funding is received for repairs and 
maintenance works associated with 
agency assets as part of Output 
Revenue. Costs associated with repairs 
and maintenance works on agency 
assets are expensed as incurred.  

(j) Depreciation and  
 Amortisation Expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, 
including buildings but excluding 
land, have limited useful lives and are 
depreciated or amortised using the 
straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to 
intangible non-current assets with 
limited useful lives and is calculated  
and accounted for in a similar manner  
to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each 
class of asset are in accordance with 
the Treasurer’s Directions and are 
determined as follows:

2009 2008 
Buildings 50 

Years
50 

Years
Plant and Equipment 5 

Years
5 

Years
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Assets are depreciated or amortised  
from the date of acquisition or from the 
time an asset is completed and held 
ready for use.

(k) Interest Expenses
Interest expenses include interest and 
finance lease charges. Interest expenses 
are expensed in the period in which they 
are incurred.

(l) Cash and Deposits
For the purposes of the Balance Sheet 
and the Cash Flow Statement, cash 
includes cash on hand, cash at bank 
and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents 
are highly liquid short-term investments 
that are readily convertible to cash. 
Cash at bank includes monies held in 
the Accountable Officer’s Trust Account 
(AOTA) that are ultimately payable to the 
beneficial owner.  

(m) Receivables
Receivables include accounts receivable 
and other receivables and are recognised 
at fair value less any allowance for 
impairment losses. 

The allowance for impairment losses 
represents the amount of receivables 
the agency estimates are likely to be 
uncollectible and are considered doubtful.  
Analyses of the age of the receivables 
that are past due as at the reporting date 
are disclosed in an aging schedule in 
Note 8.  Reconciliation of changes in the 
allowance accounts is also presented.

Accounts receivable are generally settled 
within 30 days and other receivables 
within 30 days. 

(n) Property, Plant and Equipment

Acquisitions
All items of property, plant and  
equipment with a cost, or other value, 
equal to or greater than $5,000 are 
recognised in the year of acquisition and 
depreciated as outlined below. Items of 
property, plant and equipment below the 
$5,000 threshold are expensed in the 
year of acquisition.  

The construction cost of property, plant 
and equipment includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and 
variable overheads.

Complex Assets
Major items of plant and equipment 
comprising a number of components that 
have different useful lives, are accounted 
for as separate assets. The components 
may be replaced during the useful life of 
the complex asset.

Subsequent Additional Costs
Costs incurred on property, plant 
and equipment subsequent to initial 
acquisition are capitalised when it is 
probable that future economic benefits 
in excess of the originally assessed 
performance of the asset will flow to the 
agency in future years. Where these 
costs represent separate components of 
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a complex asset, they are accounted  
for as separate assets and are  
separately depreciated over their 
expected useful lives.

Construction (Work in Progress)
As part of Financial Management 
Framework, the Department of Planning 
and Infrastructure is responsible for 
managing general government capital 
works projects on a whole of Government 
basis. Therefore appropriation for 
capital works is provided directly 
to the Department of Planning and 
Infrastructure and the cost of construction 
work in progress is recognised as 
an asset of that Department.  Once 
completed, capital works assets are 
transferred to the agency. 

(o) Revaluations and Impairment

Revaluation of Assets
Subsequent to initial recognition,  
assets belonging to the following classes 
of non-current assets are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the 
carrying amount of these assets does not 
differ materially from their fair value at 
reporting date:  

• Land;

• Buildings;

• Infrastructure Assets;

• Heritage and Cultural Assets;

• Biological Assets; and

• Intangibles.

Fair value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged, or liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arms length transaction.  

Plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less depreciation, which is 
deemed to equate to fair value.

The unique nature of some of the 
heritage and cultural assets may  
preclude reliable measurement. Such 
assets have not been recognised in the 
financial statements. 

Impairment of Assets
An asset is said to be impaired when 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

Non-current physical and intangible 
agency assets are assessed for 
indicators of impairment on an annual 
basis. If an indicator of impairment 
exists, the agency determines the 
asset’s recoverable amount. The asset’s 
recoverable amount is determined as 
the higher of the asset’s depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less.

(p) Assets Held for Sale
Assets held for sale consist of those 
assets which management has 
determined are available for immediate 
sale in their present condition, and their 
sale is highly probably within the next 
twelve months.

These assets are measured at the lower 
of the asset’s carrying amount and fair 
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value less costs to sell. These assets  
are not depreciated. Non-current assets 
held for sale have been recognised on 
the face of the financial statements as 
current assets.

(q) Leased Assets
Leases under which the agency assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of an asset are classified 
as finance leases.  Other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

Finance Leases
Finance leases are capitalised.  A leased 
asset and a lease liability equal to the 
present value of the minimum lease 
payments are recognised at the inception 
of the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between 
the principal component of the lease 
liability and the interest expense.

Operating Leases
Operating lease payments made at 
regular intervals throughout the term 
are expensed when the payments are 
due, except where an alternative basis 
is more representative of the pattern of 
benefits to be derived from the leased 
property. Lease incentives under an 
operating lease of a building or office 
space is recognised as an integral part 
of the consideration for the use of the 
leased asset. Lease incentives are to be 
recognised as a deduction of the lease 
expenses over the term of the lease.  

(r) Payables
Liabilities for accounts payable and other 
amounts payable are carried at cost 
which is the fair value of the consideration 
to be paid in the future for goods and 
services received, whether or not billed 
to the agency. Accounts payable are 
normally settled within 30 days.

(s) Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for employee benefits 
accumulated as a result of employees 
rendering services up to the reporting 
date. These benefits include wages and 
salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities 
arising in respect of wages and salaries 
and recreation leave and other employee 
benefit liabilities that fall due within twelve 
months of reporting date are classified 
as current liabilities and are measured 
at amounts expected to be paid. Non-
current employee benefit liabilities that fall 
due after twelve months of the reporting 
date are measured at present value, 
calculated using the Government long 
term bond rate.

No provision is made for sick leave, 
which is non-vesting, as the anticipated 
pattern of future sick leave to be taken is 
less than the entitlement accruing in each 
reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are 
recognised on a net basis in respect of 
the following categories:

• wages and salaries, non-monetary 
benefits, recreation leave, sick leave 
and other leave entitlements; and
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• other types of employee benefits.

As part of the Financial Management 
Framework, the Central Holding Authority 
assumes the long service leave liabilities 
of Government Agencies, including the 
Officer of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment and as such no long service 
leave liability is recognised in agency 
financial statements. 

(t) Superannuation
Employees' superannuation entitlements 
are provided through the:

• NT Government and Public Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS);

• Commonwealth Superannuation 
Scheme (CSS); or

• non-government employee  
nominated schemes for those 
employees commencing on or  
after 10 August 1999.  

The agency makes superannuation 
contributions on behalf of its employees 
to the Central Holding Authority or 
non-government employee nominated 
schemes. Superannuation liabilities 
related to government superannuation 
schemes are held by the Central Holding 
Authority and as such are not recognised 
in agency financial statements. 

(u) Contributions by and Distributions  
 to Government

The agency may receive contributions 
from Government where the 
Government is acting as owner of the 
agency. Conversely, the agency may 
make distributions to Government. 
In accordance with the Financial 
Management Act and Treasurer’s 
Directions, certain types of contributions 
and distributions, including those relating 
to administrative restructures, have 
been designated as contributions by, 
and distributions to, Government. These 
designated contributions and distributions 
are treated by the agency as adjustments 
to equity.

The Statement of Changes in Equity and 
note 13 provide additional information 
in relation to contributions by, and 
distributions to, Government.

(v) Commitments
Disclosures in relation to capital and 
other commitments, including lease 
commitments are shown at note 16  
and are consistent with the requirements 
contained in AASB 101, AASB 116  
and AASB 117.

Commitments are those contracted as at 
30 June where the amount of the future 
commitment can be reliably measured.
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2009 
$'000

2008 
$'000

4. Goods and Services Received Free of Charge
Corporate and Information Services (550) (629)

(550) (629)

5. Loss on Disposal of Assets
Net proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
Less: Carrying value of non-current assets disposed - (2)
Loss on the disposal of non-current assets - (2)

6. Purchases of Goods and Services
The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging the 
following expenses:
Goods and Services Expenses:

Consultants (1) 360 371
Advertising (2) 8 4
Marketing and Promotion (3) 26 3
Document Production 33 46
Legal Expenses (4) - 19
Recruitment (5) 45 22
Training and Study 100 67
Official Duty Fares 50 42
Travelling Allowance 10 9

(1) Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants. 
(2)  Does not include recruitment advertising or marketing and promotion advertising.
(3)  Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion 

consultants’ expenses, which are incorporated in the consultants’ category.
(4) Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
(5) Includes recruitment related advertising costs.
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8. Receivables
Current
Accounts Receivable 74 66

Interest Receivables
GST Receivables 25 21
Other Receivables - 68

25 89

Total Receivables 99 155

Aging of Receivables
Not Overdue 99 91
Overdue for less than 30 Days - 64
Overdue for 30 to 60 Days
Overdue for more than 60 Days
Total Receivables 99 155

7. Cash and Deposits
Cash on Hand 1 1
Cash at Bank 1189 667

1,190 668

2009 
$'000

2008 
$'000
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment

Buildings 
At Fair Value 106 106
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (106) (106)

0 0
Plant and Equipment
At Cost 243 238
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (149) (122)

94 117

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 94 117

Property, Plant and Equipment Valuations
The fair value of these assets was determined based on any existing restrictions on asset 
use. Where reliable market values were not available, the fair value of agency assets was 
based on their depreciated replacement cost.   

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
Agency property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at  
30 June 2009. No impairment adjustments were required as a result of this review.

2009 
$'000

2008 
$'000
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations

 A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment  
 at the beginning and end of 2008-09 is set out below:

Buildings Construction 
(Work in 

Progress)

Plant and 
Equipment

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2008 0 0 117 117

Additions - - - -
Disposals - - - -
Depreciation and Amortisation - - (27) (27)
Additions/(Disposals) from Administrative 
Restructuring 

- - - -

Additions/(Disposals) from Asset Transfers - - 5 5
Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - -
Impairment Losses - - - -
Impairment Losses Reversed - - - -
Other Movements - - - -

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2009 0 0 94 94
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Buildings Construction 
(Work in 

Progress)

Plant and 
Equipment

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2007 31 17 20 68

Additions - - - -
Disposals - - (2) (2)
Depreciation and Amortisation (31) - (36) (67)
Additions/(Disposals) from Administrative 
Restructuring 

- - - -

Additions/(Disposals) from Asset Transfers - (17) 135 118
Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) - - - -
Impairment Losses - - - -
Impairment Losses Reversed - - - -
Other Movements - - - -

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2008 0 0 117 117

9. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

10. Payables
Accounts Payable  29 61
Accrued Expenses 240 39
Other Payables  

270 100
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Non-current
Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave 251 246

251 246
Total Provisions 681 674

Reconciliations of Provisions 

Recreation Leave Balance as at 1 July 2008 314 356
Additional Provisions Recognised 415 260
Reductions Arising from Payments (431) (302)

Balance as at 30 June 2009 298 314

Recreation Leave Loading Balance as at 1 July 2008 35 48
Additional Provisions Recognised 39 13
Reductions Arising from Payments (40) (26)

Balance as at 30 June 2009 34 35

Airfares Balance as at 1 July 2008 18 18
Reduction in Provisions Recognised 29 -
Reductions Arising from Payments (18) -

Balance as at 30 June 2009 29 18

11. Provisions
Current 
Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave 298 314
Leave Loading 34 35
Other Employee Benefits 29 18

Other Current Provisions
Other Provisions 69 61

430 428

2009 
$'000

2008 
$'000



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  Annual Report 2008-09

106

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Non-current Recreation Leave Balance as at 1 July 2008 246 195
Additional Provisions Recognised 60 51
Reductions Arising from Payments (55) -

Balance as at 30 June 2009 251 246

The agency employed 33.75 employees as at 30 June 2009  
(36.55 employees as at 30 June 2008).

11. Provisions (Continued)

12. Other Liabilities
Current 
Unearned Revenue - 45

- 45
13. Equity

Equity represents the net deficiency in the Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment liabilities over net assets. 
This deficiency in liabilities over assets is recorded in the Central 
Holding Authority as described in note 2(b).

Capital

Balance as at 1 July 164 282
Equity Injections

Capital Appropriation (161)
Equity Transfers In (8) (118)

Equity Withdrawals
Capital Withdrawal -
Equity Transfers Out -

Balance as at 30 June 5 164

Accumulated Funds

Balance as at 1 July 284 (331)
Surplus/(Deficit) for the Period 142 615
Changes in Accounting Policies - -
Correction of Prior Period Errors - -
Balance as at 30 June 426 284
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14. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of Cash
The total of Agency Cash and Deposits of $615 recorded in the 
Balance Sheet is consistent with that recorded as ‘cash’ in the  
Cash Flow Statement.

Reconciliation of Net Surplus/(Deficit) to Net Cash from 
Operating Activities

Net Surplus/(Deficit)
Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit):

Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 143 615
(Profit)/loss on disposal of non-current assets - 2

Non-Cash Items:
Depreciation and Amortisation 27 67
Repairs and Maintenance – minor new work – non cash 3

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables 56 (67)
Decrease/(Increase) in Other Assets
(Decrease)/Increase in Payables 170 (142)
(Decrease)/Increase in Provision for Employee Benefits (1) (4)
(Decrease)/Increase in Other Provisions 8 (3)
(Decrease)/Increase in Other Liabilities (45) 27

Net Cash from Operating Activities 361 494

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000
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15. Financial Instruments  
A financial instrument is a contract that 
gives rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Financial 
instruments held by the Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment 
include cash and deposits, receivables, 
payables and finance leases. The 
Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment has limited exposure to 
financial risks as discussed below.

(a) Credit Risk
The agency has limited credit risk 
exposure (risk of default). In respect of 
any dealings with organisations external 
to Government, the agency has adopted 
a policy of only dealing with credit worthy 
organisations and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial assets 
recorded in the financial statements, net 
of any allowances for losses, represents 
the agency’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk without taking account of the value of 
any collateral or other security obtained.

(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the agency 
will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The agency’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to 

ensure that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when they 
fall due.

(c) Market  Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of 
future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. The primary market risk 
that the agency may be exposed to 
is interest rate risk. The Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment 
is not exposed to interest rate risk as 
agency financial assets and financial 
liabilities are non-interest bearing. 

(d) Net Fair Value
The carrying amount of financial assets 
and financial liabilities recorded in the 
financial statements approximates 
their respective net fair values. Where 
differences exist, these are not material.

(e) Interest Rate Risk
The Office of the Commissioner for  
Public Employment is not exposed to 
interest rate risk as agency financial 
assets and financial liabilities are  
non-interest bearing. 
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Fixed Interest Maturity
Weighted 
Average 
interest 

rate

%

Variable 
Interest

$’000

Under 
1 year

$’000

1 to 5 
years

$’000

Over 5 
years

$’000

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

$’000

Total

$’000
2009 Financial Assets
Cash and Deposits 1190 1190
Receivables 99 99

Total Financial Assets: 1289 1289
Financial Liabilities
Payables (270) (270)

Total Financial Liabilities: (270) (270)

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities): 1019 1019

Fixed Interest Maturity
Weighted 
Average 
interest 

rate

%

Variable 
Interest

$’000

Under 
1 year

$’000

1 to 5 
years

$’000

Over 5 
years

$’000

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

$’000

Total

$’000
2008 Financial Assets   
Cash and Deposits 668 668
Receivables 155 155

Total Financial Assets: 822 822
Financial Liabilities
Payables (100) (100)

Total Financial Liabilities: (100) (100)

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities): 722 722

15. Financial Instruments (Continued)
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2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

16. Commitments

(iii) Operating Lease Commitments
The agency leases property under non-cancellable operating 
leases expiring from nil to 3 years. Leases generally provide the 
agency with a right of renewal at which time all lease terms are 
renegotiated. The agency also leases items of plant and equipment 
under non-cancellable operating leases. Future operating lease 
commitments not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:   

Within one year 8 8
Later than one year and not later than five years 18 27
Later than five years

26 35
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17.  Contingent Liabilities and  
Contingent Assets

a) Contingent liabilities
The Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment maintains a register 
of Contingent Liabilities. Information is 
received and updated annually for the 
inclusion for the whole of Government 
report if applicable. The contingent 
liabilities are not reported in the  
agency’s financial statements as they  
are not quantifiable.

b) Contingent assets
 The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment has no contingent assets as 
at 30 June 2008 or 2007.

18.  Events Subsequent to  
Balance Date
 No events have arisen between the 
end of the financial year and the date of 
this report that require adjustment to, or 
disclosure in, these financial statements.

 19.  Write-offs, Postponements  
and Waivers
 There were no write-offs,  
postponements or waivers for the  
year ended 30 June 2008.

20. Schedule of Territory Items
 The Office of the Commissioner for  
Public Employment did not have any 
Territory items.
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AEU Australian Education Union

AO Administrative Officer

AIRC Australian Industrial  
 Relations Commission

AOTA Accountable Officer's  
 Trust Account

ATO Australian Taxation Office

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CSS Commonwealth  
 Superannuation Scheme

DBE Department of Business  
 and Employment

DCM Department of the Chief Minister

EAP Employee Assistance Program

ECO Executive Contract Officer

GST Goods and Services Tax

HR Human Resource

HR/ER/IR  Human Resource/Employee 
Relations/Industrial Relations 

HR/IR  Human Resource/Industrial 
Relations

ICT Information and  
 Communication Technology

IFRS International Financial  
 Reporting Standards

ILO International Labour Organisation

JES Job Evaluation System

NTGPASS Northern Territory Government  
 and Public Authorities 
 Superannuation Scheme

NTPS Northern Territory Public Sector

NTWA Northern Territory  
 Workplace Advocate

OCPE Office of the Commissioner  
 for Public Employment

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety

PA&GR Promotion Appeals  
 & Grievance Reviews

PH Physical

PSEMA Public Sector Employment 
 and Management Act

PSM Public Sector Management

RWDS Remote Workforce  
 Development Strategy

SWP&D Strategic Workforce Planning  
 and Development

TRIM Tower Records  
 Information Management

Acronyms and Abbreviations
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• NTPS Co-ordination Committee

• Chief Executives Taskforce  
on Indigenous Affairs

• Public Sector Consultative Council

• Power and Water Corporation 
Remuneration and Organisation Committee

• Executive Remuneration Review Panel

• Workplace Relations Ministerial Council – 
High Level Officers' Advisory Group

• Public Service Commissioners’ Conference

• BIITE (NTG Partnership Peak Group)

• Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary 
Education (BIITE) HR Committee

• International Labour Organisation Technical 
Officers Forum

• Chief Finance Officers’ Forum

• Public Sector Industrial Relations  
Directors' Forum

• Government Skills Australia Public Sector 
Jurisdictional Reference Group

• Inter-Departmental Committee for 
Indigenous Economic Development

• Public Sector Management Program  
Local Management Group

• Post Secondary Education  
and Employment Network

• Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Coordinators' Network

• Inter-jurisdictional Working Group on Survey 
Design and Analysis

• Australia and New Zealand School of 
Government (ANSOG) Board of Directors – 
Territory Representative

• NTG Information Management Committee

• Information Officers’ User Forum

• Records Management and Property 
Management Group

• TRIM User Forum, Records Management  
of Australasia

• NTG Information Management Committee 
Records Management Sub-Committee

• Records and NTG Storage Forum

• Government Office Accommodation 
Committee

• Government Office Accommodation 
Committee Reference Group

• NTPS Statistical Liaison Committee

• High Level Officers Group Working Party 
for National Review of Long Service 
Leave Minimum Entitlements for Proposed 
National Employment Standards

• Alice Springs Regional  
Coordination Committee

• Barkly Regional Coordination Committee

• Strategic Workforce Issues Action Group 
(Alice Springs HR Group)

• Desert Knowledge Australia –  
Inter-Regional Network

• Central Australia Educators and Training 
Providers Network

• Alice Springs Communications, Media and 
Marketing Group

Boards and Committees on  
which the OCPE is Represented
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Please tick the relevant box to indicate how you rate the report.

Excellent Good Satisfactory Poor
Overall impression

Presentation and design

Easy to read and understand

Content/information

Feedback Form
We welcome your feedback on the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
Annual Report 2008–09. Your comments and 

suggestions will be used in the development 
of future reports.

Which areas of the report were most useful?

........................................................................

........................................................................

........................................................................

How do you think the report could  
be improved?

........................................................................

........................................................................

........................................................................

Please indicate where you are from:

Does the report contain the information  
you required? 

□ Yes   □ No

If no, please list suggested information to be 
included in future reports.

........................................................................

........................................................................

........................................................................

Please return your completed feedback sheet either by email, post, or facsimile to:

enquiries.ocpe@nt.gov.au  
GPO Box 4371, Darwin NT 0801 
Facsimile: 08 8999 4186

□ NT Government

□ Education or research institution

□ Community member or organisation

□ Australian Government

□ Industry

□ Other State or Territory government

□ Private sector
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Top End
Ground and 4th Floors, Harbour View Plaza 
8 McMinn Street  
(cnr Bennett and McMinn Streets) 
Darwin NT 0800

GPO Box 4371 
Darwin NT 0801

Telephone: 08 8999 4282

Facsimile: 08 8999 4186

Email: enquiries.ocpe@nt.gov.au

Web: www.nt.gov.au/ocpe

Central Australia
1st Floor, Greatorex Building 
cnr Bath and Parsons Streets 
Alice Springs NT 0870

PO Box 8574 
Alice Springs NT 0871

Telephone: 08 8951 5785

Facsimile: 08 8951 5788

Email: enquiries.ocpe@nt.gov.au

Web: www.nt.gov.au/ocpe

How to Contact Us

Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
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